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Income statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
total operating revenues  3,957.0 3,835.0  26.2  27.0
other revenues 2  85.4 48.7  358.8 322.0

Revenue  4,042.4  3,883.7  385.0  349.0

other income 2  2.1  (1.5)  (0.1)  (0.9)
government taxes and levies  (1,075.2) (1,044.3)  -  - 
commissions and fees  (828.2) (825.5)  -  (7.4)
employment costs  (553.9) (587.3)  (18.7)  (48.1)
depreciation and amortisation 2  (192.9) (142.3)  (55.0) (2.9)
property costs  (81.3) (78.7)  (0.6)  (0.2)
advertising and promotions  (86.3) (80.9)  (1.8)  (2.5)
professional and contract services  (25.1) (33.3)  (3.2)  (13.8)
Finance costs 2  (168.4)  (172.3)  -  - 
other expenses  (269.4) (275.8)  (8.0)  (12.2)

Profit before income tax expense and impairment  763.8  641.8  297.6  261.0

impairment 2  (707.6) (2.2)  (474.6)  - 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense  56.2  639.6  (177.0)  261.0

income tax (expense)/benefit 4 (221.2) (190.1)  (7.4) 12.1

Net profit/(loss) after tax  (165.0)  449.5  (184.4)  273.1

net loss attributable to minority interest  0.4  0.9  -  - 

Net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent entity  (164.6) 450.4  (184.4)  273.1

Earnings per share for profit/(loss) attributable to 
members of the parent entity:
basic earnings per share (cents per share) 6  (31.4) 85.8
diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 6  (31.3) 85.6

the accompanying notes form an integral part of this income statement.
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 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
Current assets
cash and cash equivalents 7  173.2 202.2  24.7 39.9
receivables 8  64.8 31.6  2,313.1 2,446.8
inventories 9  13.4 15.1  -  - 
derivative financial instruments  3.2  -  -  - 
other 10  23.6 18.7  2.3 2.5
assets held for sale 11  -  15.1  -  - 
Total current assets  278.2  282.7  2,340.1  2,489.2
Non current assets
investments in controlled entities  -  -  447.7  447.7
property, plant and equipment 12  1,499.3 1,461.8  3.5  6.3
licences 13  723.9 1,220.8  109.5  597.2
other intangible assets 14  3,506.8  3,680.7  3.5  7.2
other receivables 16  2.1  -  2.1  - 
deferred tax assets 4  -  -  7.6  8.1
derivative financial instruments  87.9  66.8  -  - 
other 10  23.5 13.7  -  0.3
Total non current assets  5,843.5  6,443.8  573.9  1,066.8
TOTAL ASSETS  6,121.7  6,726.5  2,914.0  3,556.0
Current liabilities
payables 17  407.3  379.8  23.9  19.0
interest bearing liabilities 18  -  390.0  -  - 
current tax liabilities  52.3 13.2  52.3  13.6
provisions 19  98.7 114.7  7.7 18.3
other 20  1.9 2.6  -  - 
liabilities held for sale 11  -  4.6  -  - 
Total current liabilities  560.2  904.9  83.9  50.9
Non current liabilities
interest bearing liabilities 18  2,269.7 1,950.6  -  - 
deferred tax liabilities 4  293.0  271.7  -  - 
provisions 19  25.4 45.3  0.6 0.6
derivative financial instruments  199.4  167.3  -  - 
other 20  3.2  2.5  1.9  - 
Total non current liabilities  2,790.7  2,437.4  2.5  0.6
TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,350.9  3,342.3  86.4  51.5
NET ASSETS  2,770.8  3,384.2  2,827.6  3,504.5
Equity
issued capital 21  3,195.4  3,192.3  3,198.1  3,198.0
retained earnings/(accumulated losses) 21  (490.2)  168.6  (379.5)  299.1
reserves 21  65.6  15.2  9.0  7.4
Parent interests  2,770.8  3,376.1  2,827.6  3,504.5
Minority interests 22  -  8.1  -  - 
TOTAL EQUITY  2,770.8  3,384.2  2,827.6  3,504.5

the accompanying notes form an integral part of this balance sheet.

Balance sheet 
as at 30 June 2008
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 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
Cash flows from operating activities
net cash receipts in the course of operations  4,097.4 4,009.0  51.4  59.8
payments to suppliers, service providers and employees  (2,077.0) (2,056.3)  (36.9)  (71.5)
payment of government levies, betting taxes and gst  (1,026.0) (993.1)  (144.6)  (137.5)
dividends received  - -  294.7  296.6
interest received  9.0 8.7  3.4  2.2
Finance costs paid  (171.7) (161.4)  -    - 
income tax paid  (179.4) (198.2)  (181.7)  (195.8)

Net cash flows from operating activities 23  652.3  608.7  (13.7)  (46.2)

Cash flows from investing activities
proceeds from sale of controlled entity (net of cash disposed)  14.2 -  -  - 
proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  
and intangibles  1.7 5.8  -  - 
payment for property, plant and equipment and intangibles  (222.0) (166.8)  (0.9)  (2.4)
repayment of loans to controlled entities  - -  497.7  526.1

Net cash flows from investing activities  (206.1)  (161.0)  496.8  523.7

Cash flows from financing activities
net proceeds from borrowings  16.0 22.0  -  - 
dividends paid  (385.2) (348.4)  (385.2)  (348.4)
on-market share purchases for dividend reinvestment plan  (108.2) (134.6)  (108.2)  (134.6)
payments for on-market share buy back  (4.1) (4.7)  (4.1)  (4.7)
proceeds from exercise of options  2.2 2.7  2.2  2.7
loan advanced to related party  (3.0) -  (3.0)  - 
repayment of employee share loans  2.0 16.0  -  0.8
Net cash flows from financing activities  (480.3)  (447.0)  (498.3)  (484.2)
net increase/(decrease) in cash held  (34.1)  0.7  (15.2)  (6.7)
cash at the beginning of the financial year  207.3 206.6  39.9  46.6
Cash at the end of the financial year 23  173.2  207.3  24.7  39.9

the accompanying notes form an integral part of this cash flow statement.

Cash flow statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Statement of recognised income and expense 
For the year ended 30 June 2008

 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
change in fair value of cash flow hedges  69.6  45.9  -  - 
actuarial loss on defined benefit plan 27  (1.1)  (0.8)  (1.1)  (0.8)
income tax (expense)/benefit on items taken  
directly to equity 4  (20.5)  (13.6)  0.3  0.3

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity  48.0  31.5  (0.8)  (0.5)

Net profit/(loss) after tax  (165.0)  449.5  (184.4)  273.1

Total recognised income and expense for the period  (117.0)  481.0  (185.2)  272.6

Attributable to:
members of the parent entity  (116.6)  481.9  (185.2)  272.6
minority interest  (0.4)  (0.9)  -  - 

 (117.0)  481.0  (185.2)  272.6

the accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement of recognised income and expense.
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1. Significant accounting policies and corporate information
tabcorp holdings limited (‘the company’) is a company limited by shares which are traded 
on the australian securities exchange.  the company is incorporated and domiciled in 
australia. the financial report of the company for the year ended 30 June 2008 comprises 
the company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as ‘the group’) and the group’s 
interest in joint ventures.

the financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 20 august 2008.

(a)	 Statement	of	compliance
New	Australian	Accounting	Standards
australian accounting standards that have been recently issued or amended but are not yet 
effective have not been applied to the financial report.

the following amendments by the aasb to australian accounting standards are currently 
being assessed by management but are not expected to have a material impact on the 
group’s financial position and performance, however increased disclosures may be required  
in the group’s financial statements.

AASB Reference Title
Application  
date for Group 

aasb 3 business combinations  1 July 2009 
aasb 8 operating segments  1 July 2009 
aasb 101 presentation of Financial statements  1 July 2009 
aasb 123 borrowing costs  1 July 2009 
aasb 127 consolidated and separate Financial statements  1 July 2009 
aasb 2007-3 amendments to australian accounting standards 

arising from aasb 8
 1 July 2009 

aasb 2007-6 amendments to australian accounting standards 
arising from aasb 123

 1 July 2009 

aasb 2007-8 amendments to australian accounting standards 
arising from aasb 101

 1 July 2009 

aasb 2008-1 amendments to australian accounting standard 
- share-based payments: Vesting conditions and 
cancellations

1 July 2009

aasb 2008-3 amendments to australian accounting standards 
arising from aasb 3 and aasb 127

 1 July 2009 

AASB Reference Title
Application  
date for Group 

interpretation 4 determining whether an arrangement contains  
a lease

 1 July 2008 

interpretation 13 customer loyalty programmes  1 July 2008 
interpretation 14 aasb 119 – the limit on a defined benefit asset, 

minimum Funding requirements and their 
interaction

 1 July 2008 

amendments 
to international 
Financial reporting 
standards

cost of an investment in a subsidiary, Jointly 
controlled entity or associate

 1 July 2009 

improvements to iFrss  1 July 2009 

the group has adopted aasb 7 ‘Financial instruments: disclosures’ and all consequential 
amendments which became applicable on 1 July 2007. the adoption of this standard has only 
impacted the disclosure in these financial statements. there has been no impact on profit and 
loss or the financial position of the entity. 

the financial report complies with australian accounting standards as issued by the 
australian accounting standards board, which include australian equivalents to international 
Financial reporting standards (‘aiFrs’).  the financial report also complies with international 
Financial reporting standards (‘iFrs’) as issued by the international accounting standards 
board.

(b)		 Basis	of	preparation
the financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in 
accordance with the corporations act 2001, australian accounting standards and other 
mandatory financial reporting requirements in australia.

the financial report is presented in australian dollars.

the financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments, other receivables and pension assets that have been measured at fair value.  
the carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are hedged with fair value  
hedges are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are 
being hedged. non current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower  
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2008
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
For the year ended 30 June 2008

1. Significant accounting policies and corporate information (continued)
(b)		 Basis	of	preparation	(continued)
the accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the group for the 
purposes of this financial report.

the company is of a kind referred to in asic class order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in 
accordance with the class order, amounts in the financial report and directors’ report have 
been rounded off to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

(c)		 Accounting	estimates	and	assumptions
Significant	accounting	estimates	and	assumptions
the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates 
and assumptions of future events.

the key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period are: 

Impairment	of	goodwill	and	intangibles	with	indefinite	useful	lives
the group determines whether goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are 
impaired at least on an annual basis.  this requires an estimation of the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating units to which the goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives 
are allocated. the assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount and the carrying 
amount of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are described in note 15. 

(d)		 Basis	of	consolidation	
Controlled	entities
controlled entities are entities controlled by the company.  control exists when the company 
has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.  in assessing control, potential voting rights that 
presently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account.  the financial statements of 
controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial report from the date control 
commences until the date that control ceases. the financial statements of the controlled 
entities are prepared for the same reporting period as the company, using consistent 
accounting policies. 

Joint	ventures
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the group has joint control, established 
by contractual agreement.

Jointly	controlled	entities
investments in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using equity accounting principles 
and are carried at the lower of the equity accounted amount and the recoverable amount.

the group’s share of the jointly controlled entity’s net profit or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement from the date joint control commences until the date joint 
control ceases. other movements in reserves are recognised directly in consolidated reserves.

Jointly	controlled	operations	and	assets
the interest of the group in unincorporated joint ventures and jointly controlled assets 
are brought to account by recognising in its financial statements the assets it controls, the 
liabilities it incurs, the expenses it incurs, and the share of income that it earns from the sale 
of goods or services by the joint venture.

Transactions	eliminated	on	consolidation
intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising 
from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial 
statements.

(e)		 Foreign	currency
transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at  
the date of the transaction.

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet  
date are translated to australian dollars at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. 
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement.

non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

non monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair 
value are translated to australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair 
value was determined.

(f)		 Derivative	financial	instruments
the group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange 
and interest rate risks arising from operational, financing and investment activities. in 
accordance with its treasury policy, the group does not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. however, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.
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derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost. subsequent to initial 
recognition, derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. the gain or loss on 
re-measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the income statement. however, 
where derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, any resultant gain or loss may be 
deferred to reserves.

the fair value of interest rate swap and cross currency swap contracts is determined by 
reference to market values for similar instruments.

(g)		 Hedging
Cash	flow	hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge to the exposure to the 
variability in cash flows that are attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised 
asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or 
loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. When the forecast 
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non financial asset or liability, 
the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial 
cost or other carrying amount of the non financial asset or liability. if a hedge of a forecast 
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or financial liability, 
then the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified 
into the income statement in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired 
or liability assumed affects the income statement (i.e. when interest income or expense is 
recognised).

For cash flow hedges, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial 
instrument is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement in the same 
period or periods during which the hedged forecast transaction affects the income statement. 
the ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation 
of the hedge relationship is revoked but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected 
to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in 
accordance with the above when the transaction occurs. if the hedged transaction is no longer 
expected to take place, then the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is 
recognised immediately in the income statement.

Fair	value	hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability of changes 
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment, any 
gain or loss on the derivative is recognised directly in the income statement.

(h)		 Revenue
revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the group and the revenue can be reliably measured. the following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Wagering	and	gaming	revenue	
revenue is recognised as the residual value after deducting the statutory return to customers 
from the wagering and gaming turnover.

Casino	revenue	
revenue is recognised as the net gaming win plus the retail sale of food, beverages, 
accommodation and other services.

Fixed	odds	betting	revenue	
revenue is recognised as the net win or loss on an event.  the amounts bet on an event are 
recognised as a liability until the outcome of the event is determined, at which time the 
revenue is brought to account.  open betting positions are carried at fair market value and 
gains and  losses arising on these positions are recognised in revenue.

Provision	of	technology	services	
revenue is recognised where the contracted outcome can be reliably measured and control  
of the right to be compensated for the services exists under the contractual agreement. 

Sale	of	goods	
revenue is recognised when:

the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer; ■

 it is probable consideration will pass from the buyer in accordance with an established  ■

arrangement; and
the amount of consideration can be reliably measured.  ■

Media	operations	revenue	
revenue includes subscription income, advertising revenue and product recoveries,  
and is recognised once the service has been rendered.

Interest	
revenue is recognised as the interest accrues, using the effective interest rate method. 

Dividends	
revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
For the year ended 30 June 2008

1. Significant accounting policies and corporate information (continued)
(i)		 Finance	costs
Finance costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

borrowing costs directly associated with qualifying assets are capitalised, including any  
other associated costs directly attributable to the borrowing.

(j)		 Taxation
Income	tax	
income tax comprises current and deferred income tax. income tax is recognised in the 
income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity,  
in which case it is recognised in equity.

current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. the following temporary differences are not provided for:

goodwill; and  ■

the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business  ■

combination and that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit at the time of the 
transaction.

the amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.

a deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Goods	and	services	tax
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of gst except:

when the gst incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the  ■

taxation authority, in which case the gst is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition  
of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of gst included. ■

the net amount of gst recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the gst component 
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

(k)		 Cash
cash comprises cash balances and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or 
less. bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s 
cash management are included as a component of cash for the purpose of the cash flow 
statement. 

(l)		 Receivables
trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for 
any uncollectible amount (where applicable).  an allowance for doubtful debts is made when 
there is objective evidence that collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  Factors 
considered when determining if an impairment exists include ageing and timing of expected 
receipts, management’s experienced judgement and facts in the individual situation.  bad 
debts are written off when identified.

(m)		 Inventories
inventories include consumable stores, food and beverages, finished goods and work in 
progress, and are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(n)		 Other	receivables
other receivables are initially recognised at amortised cost.  subsequent increases in 
receivables due to the passage of time or resulting from a revision of the estimate of cash 
inflows are recognised in the income statement.  an allowance for impairment is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect the receivable.

(o)		 Non	current	assets	held	for	sale	and	discontinued	operations
assets classified as held for sale (and all assets and liabilities in a disposal group) are 
recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in the income 
statement. the same applies to gains and losses on subsequent re-measurement.  
no depreciation or amortisation is charged on these assets while they are classified  
as held for sale.
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a discontinued operation is a component of the group’s business that represents a separate 
major line of business or is a controlled entity acquired or held exclusively with a view to resale.

classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets 
the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier. 

(p)		 Investment	in	controlled	entities
all investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given 
and including acquisition charges associated with the investment.

(q)		 Property,	plant	and	equipment
Owned	assets
items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses (refer to note 1(s)).

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Leased	assets
leases where the lessee assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases.

leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating leases. operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Depreciation
depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment other than land, which  
is not depreciated. 

Useful life
buildings 10 - 95 years
leasehold improvements 4 - 75 years
plant and equipment 5 - 19 years

(r)		 Intangible	assets
Goodwill	arising	from	business	combinations
all business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. goodwill 
represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired.

Impairment
goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. goodwill is allocated at 
acquisition date to each cash generating unit or group of cash generating units expected to 
benefit from the business combination’s synergies and is not amortised but is tested annually 
for impairment. impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash 
generating unit or units, to which the goodwill relates.  When the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating unit or units is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised.  impairment losses are recognised directly in the income statement and are not 
subsequently reversed. 

negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognised directly in the income statement.

refer to note 15 for further details of key assumptions included in the impairment calculation. 

Other	intangible	assets
other intangible assets that are acquired by the group are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses (refer to note 1(s)).  the cost of internally developed 
software includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
overheads.  expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the 
income statement as an expense as incurred.

Amortisation
amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the income statement as follows: 

Victorian	wagering	and	gaming	licences:
the licences are amortised on a straight line basis over the remaining life of the licences  
from inception in 1994 until expiry in 2012.

Star	City	casino	licence:
the licence is amortised on a straight line basis from its date of issue until expiry in 2093.

Treasury	casino	licence:
the licence is amortised on a straight line basis over the remaining life of the licence from  
the date of acquisition until expiry in 2070.

Queensland	Keno	licence:
the licence is amortised on a straight line basis over the remaining life of the licence from  
the date of acquisition until expiry in 2022.

NSW	wagering	licence:
the licence is amortised on a straight line basis over the remaining life of the licence from 
 the date of acquisition until expiry in 2097.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
For the year ended 30 June 2008

1. Significant accounting policies and corporate information (continued)
(r)		 Intangible	assets	(continued)
Other	licences:
other licences are amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the licences.

Other	intangible	assets:
other intangibles relate to the contribution to the construction costs of the state government 
owned gold coast convention and exhibition centre.  the group’s gold coast casino is deriving 
future benefits from the contribution, which is being amortised over a period of 50 years.

customer contracts are amortised over a period of 12 years, being the estimated life of the contracts.

software is amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life, which varies from 5 to 8 years.

intangibles relating to brand names, broadcast rights and media content are not being 
amortised as the directors believe that the life of these intangibles to the group will not 
materially diminish over time, and the residual value at the end of that life would be such that 
the amortisation charge, if any, would not be material. these assets, together with goodwill, 
are tested annually for impairment.

(s)		 Impairment	of	non	financial	assets
at each reporting date, the group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. When an indicator of impairment exists, the group makes a formal estimate of 
recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. it is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated as it 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 
groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

impairment losses are recognised immediately in the income statement. 

refer to note 15 for further details of key assumptions included in the impairment calculation. 

(t)		 Payables
payables are stated at amortised cost.

(u)		 Provisions
a provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 

estimated.  if the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, 
the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recorded as a finance cost.

Restructuring
a provision for restructuring is recognised when the group has approved a detailed and 
formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has commenced, has been announced 
publicly, or has no realistic probability of withdrawal. Future operating costs are not provided 
for in the provision for restructuring.

Onerous	contracts
a provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations 
under the contract.

Self	insurance
Where the group self insures for workers’ compensation, a provision is recognised in the 
balance sheet, which includes a prudential margin.

Management	agreement
a provision was made for the management agreement for the gold coast and brisbane 
casinos being the present value of the liability net of the asset acquired. the provision was 
included in the determination of the fair value of the net assets and liabilities of Jupiters 
limited acquired in 2003.  the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost in the income statement. 

(v)		 Interest	bearing	liabilities
interest bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs. subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing liabilities are recognised 
at amortised cost. amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest rate method. gains 
and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised in 
addition to the amortisation process.

(w)		 Employee	benefits	
Post-employment	benefits
Accumulation	plan
the group’s commitment to accumulation plans is limited to making the contributions in 
accordance with the minimum statutory requirements. there is no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employees relating to current and past employee services.
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contributions to accumulation plans are recognised as expenses in the income statement 
as the contributions become payable. a liability is recognised when the group is required to 
make future payments as a result of employees’ services provided.

Defined	benefit	plan
the group operates a defined benefit plan which is recognised in the balance sheet as the 
difference between the present value of the estimated future benefits that will be payable to 
plan members and the fair value of the plan’s assets.  at reporting date, where the fair value of 
the plan assets exceeds the present value of the defined benefit obligations, the net surplus is 
recognised as an asset.  When the fair value of the plan assets is less than the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation, the net deficit is recognised as a liability.

an annual adjustment is made to recognise all movements in the carrying amount of the 
plan as income or expense in the income statement, except for the portion of the movement 
that is attributable to actuarial gains and losses, which are recognised directly in equity.  
actuarial gains and losses represent the difference between previous actuarial assumptions 
of future outcomes and the actual outcome, in addition to the effect of changes in actuarial 
assumptions.

Long	service	leave
the group’s net obligation in respect of long term service benefits, other than pension plans, 
is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods. the obligation is calculated using the expected future increases 
in wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates, and is 
discounted using the rates attached to the commonwealth government bonds at the balance 
sheet date which have maturity dates approximating to the terms of the group’s obligations.

Wages,	salaries	and	annual	leave
liabilities for employee benefits of salaries, wages and annual leave represent present 
obligations resulting from employees’ services provided to reporting date, calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on remuneration rates the group expects to pay, including 
related on-costs when the liability is expected to be settled.

Share	based	payment	transactions
the group operates the long term performance plan (ltpp), which is available at the most 
senior executive levels.  Under the ltpp, employees may become entitled to performance rights 
(and prior to July 2007, also performance options) in the company.

the fair value of performance rights and options is measured at grant date and is recognised 
as an employee expense (with a corresponding increase in equity) over four years (three years 
for instruments issued prior to 30 June 2006) irrespective of whether the performance rights 
and options vest to the holder.  a reversal of the expense is only recognised in the event the 

instruments lapse due to cessation of employment within the four year period (three year 
period for instruments issued prior to 30 June 2006).

the fair value of the performance rights and options is determined by an external valuer and 
takes into account the terms and conditions upon which the performance rights and options 
were granted.

the dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding performance rights and options is reflected in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share. 

in addition, the group operates the short term performance plan (stpp).  participants in the 
stpp have the opportunity to voluntarily sacrifice part or all of the award payable under the 
stpp into shares. the cost of the shares is recognised in the year of performance.  For certain 
senior executives, it is mandatory to defer one third of their stpp into restricted shares, which 
are subject to a three year service condition.

in the previous year, a medium term performance plan (mtpp) operated for senior executives.  
participants in the mtpp became entitled to restricted shares, which are subject to a two year 
service condition.  

the cost of the restricted shares is based on the market price at grant date and is recognised 
over a three year period for stpp and a two year period for mtpp.

restricted shares may be issued to executives as an incentive upon appointment or for 
retention.  the fair value of restricted shares is recognised as an employee expense over the 
relevant vesting period.

refer to note 26 for further details on the share based payment transactions. 

(x)		 Rental	in	advance
the payment made for rental in advance for the star city casino site for 12 years was deferred 
in the balance sheet at the nominal amount and amortised over 12 years commencing from 
the date of issue of the casino licence in december 1994.  the amount is now fully amortised.

the payment made for rental in advance in respect of a property adjacent to the star city 
casino has been deferred in the balance sheet at the nominal amount and is being amortised 
over 95 years from the commencement of the rental of the site in 1997.

(y)		 Deferred	revenue
deferred revenue includes subscriptions received before the end of the financial year, but 
relating to future periods.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
For the year ended 30 June 2008

1. Significant accounting policies and corporate information (continued)
(z)	 Issued	capital
issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received. 

any transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
directly in equity, net of tax, as a reduction of the share proceeds received. 

the balance of limited recourse loans provided to employees to participate in employee share 
plans are recorded as treasury shares, which is recognised as a reduction in issued capital.   
no such loans have been granted since 2003.

the amount which has been credited to the employee equity benefit reserve in relation to 
performance rights and options is transferred to issued capital to the extent the relevant 
performance rights and options vest.

(aa)		Segment	reporting
a segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged in providing products or 
services which are subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

(ab)		Earnings	per	share
basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the company, 
adjusted to exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit attributable to members of the company, 
adjusted for:

costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); ■

the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary  ■

shares that have been recognised as expenses; and
other non discretionary changes in revenue or expenses during the period that would result  ■

from the dilution of potential ordinary shares divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(ac)		 Capitalised	costs
capitalised costs relating to development projects and potential business acquisitions are 
recognised as an asset when it is:

probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to the entity;  ■

and
it can be reliably measured. ■

if it becomes apparent that the development or acquisition will not occur the amount is 
expensed to the income statement.

 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
2. Revenue and expenses
(a)	 Other	revenues:
Finance revenue
- interest revenue  9.3  8.6  3.4  2.3
- unwinding of discount on receivables  40.6  -  40.6  - 
dividend revenue received from controlled 
entities  -  -  294.7  296.6
other revenue items  35.5  40.1  20.1  23.1

 85.4  48.7  358.8  322.0
(b)	 Other	income:
net gain on disposal of controlled entity  0.4  -  -  - 
net gain/(loss) on disposal of non current 
assets  1.4  (2.0)  (0.1)  (0.9)
net foreign exchange gain  0.3  0.5  -  - 

 2.1  (1.5)  (0.1)  (0.9)
(c)	 Depreciation:
- buildings  12.0  14.4  - -
- leasehold improvements  13.8  14.3  - -
- plant and equipment  76.8  75.4  0.7  1.5

 102.6  104.1  0.7  1.5
(d)	 Amortisation:
- Victorian licences  26.6 -  26.6 -
-  Victorian licences - prior periods  

net adjustment 13  27.1 -  27.1 -
- nsW wagering licence  3.7  3.7  - -
- star city and treasury casino licences  3.2  3.2  - -
- Queensland Keno licence  2.3  2.4  - -
- customer contracts and relationships  0.2  0.2  - -
- software  26.5  23.6  0.6  1.4
- rental in advance  0.2  4.7  - -
- other  0.5  0.4  -  - 

 90.3  38.2  54.3  1.4
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 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
(e)	 Employment	costs:
included in employment costs:
- defined benefit plan expense  1.4  0.6  1.4  0.6
- defined contribution plan expense  37.3  38.4  0.2  0.7
- share based payments expense  3.4 3.7  1.3  1.0
- reorganisation costs  (0.1) 37.0  0.1  27.5

 42.0  79.7  3.0  29.8
(f)	 Operating	lease	rentals:
- minimum lease payments  27.7 27.6  2.7 1.5
(g)		 Other	expenses	include:
- cost of sales  69.6 66.3  -  - 
(h)	 Finance	costs:
- interest costs  167.8  161.8  - -
- other finance costs  4.6  3.2  - -
- unwinding of discounts  6.8  5.2  - -
- (gain)/loss on fair value hedges  (10.8)  2.1  -  - 

 168.4  172.3  -  - 
(i)		 Impairment:
- goodwill  194.0  -  - -
- other receivables  474.6  -  474.6 -
- property, plant and equipment  39.0  2.2  -  - 

 707.6  2.2  474.6  - 

 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
3.  Auditor’s remuneration
amounts received or due and receivable  
by ernst & Young for:
-  audit and review of the financial report of the 

company and any other entity in the group  1,319 1,383  341  379
-  other services in relation to the company and 

any other entity in the group:
- other audit services 331  89  -  - 
- other regulatory audit services 125  97  -  - 
- other assurance  -  15  -  - 

 1,775  1,584  341  379

the auditor of the company and its controlled entities is ernst & Young.  From time to time, 
ernst & Young provides other services to the group, which are subject to strict corporate 
governance procedures encompassing the selection of service providers and the setting of 
their remuneration. the chairman of the audit committee must approve any other services 
provided by ernst & Young to the group.

Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
4.  Income tax
(a)	 Income	tax	expense
The	major	components	of	income	tax	expense	are:
current tax expense  220.5 181.8  6.8  (3.8)
adjustments in respect of current income tax of 
previous years:
- affecting provision for income tax  0.5 (4.4)  0.1  (1.4)
- affecting deferred tax balances  (4.0)  (2.0)  (0.1)  (0.3)
deferred income tax expense relating to the 
origination and reversal of temporary differences  4.2 14.7  0.6  (6.6)
income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the 
income statement  221.2 190.1  7.4  (12.1)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
For the year ended 30 June 2008

Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
4. Income tax (continued)
Aggregate	current	and	deferred	tax	relating	to	
items	charged	or	credited	to	equity:
change in value of cash flow hedges  20.8  13.9  -  - 
actuarial loss on defined benefit plan  (0.3) (0.3)  (0.3)  (0.3)
income tax expense/(benefit) reported in equity  20.5 13.6  (0.3)  (0.3)
Income	tax	expense
a reconciliation between income tax expense and 
the product of accounting profit before income tax 
multiplied by the income tax rate is as follows:
accounting profit/(loss) before income tax expense  56.2  639.6  (177.0) 261.0
at the group’s statutory income tax rate of 30%  (16.9)  (191.9)  53.1 (78.3)
- dividends received  -  -  88.4 89.0
- impairment of goodwill and other receivables  (200.6)  -  (142.4) -
- amortisation of Victorian licences  (16.1)  -  (16.1) -
- unwinding of discount on receivables  12.2  -  12.2 -
- prepaid rent  (1.8)  (1.6)  - -
- international business costs  0.8  (1.3)  - -
- sundry items  (2.3)  (1.7)  (2.6) (0.3)
- over provision in prior years  3.5  6.4  - 1.7
aggregate income tax (expense)/benefit  (221.2)  (190.1)  (7.4)  12.1

Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
(b)		 Deferred	tax	assets
The	balance	comprises	temporary	differences	
attributable	to:
Amounts recognised in the income statement:
doubtful debts  5.4  2.5  -  - 
employee benefits  21.3  20.2  2.3  1.0
merger/acquisition costs  1.6  3.6  0.7  0.8
provision for management agreement  8.6  13.7  -  - 
provision for restructuring costs  2.0  5.6  1.4  4.3
provision for onerous contract - surplus lease space  1.1  1.5  -  - 
Fair value of cross currency swaps  9.8  8.3  -  - 
minor assets  0.6  1.0  -  - 
other provisions  3.8  1.3  1.8  1.6
accrued expenses  11.3  11.3  1.7  1.1
Jackpots  2.3  2.0  -  - 

 67.8  71.0  7.9  8.8
deferred tax assets set off  67.8  71.0  -  - 
deferred tax liabilities set off  -  -  0.3  0.7
Net	deferred	tax	assets  -  -  7.6  8.1
Movements:
opening balance at 1 July  71.0 83.3  8.8 2.2
credited/(charged) to the income statement  (3.2) (2.1)  (0.9) 6.6
transfer to deferred tax liabilities  - (10.2)  -  - 
closing balance at 30 June  67.8  71.0  7.9  8.8
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Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
(c)		 Deferred	tax	liabilities
The	balance	comprises	temporary	differences	
attributable	to:
Amounts recognised in the income statement:
prepayments  0.9  5.1  -  - 
inventories  4.5  3.3  -  - 
Unclaimed dividend adjustment  4.7  4.8  -  - 
prepaid rent  37.7  35.2  -  - 
Fair value of Us dollar private placement  12.0  7.3  -  - 
intangibles  17.4  11.8  0.4  0.4
licences  184.9  187.1  -  - 
property, plant and equipment  68.3  83.2  0.5  0.2
other  6.4  1.1  -  - 
Amounts recognised directly in equity:
Fair value of cash flow hedges  24.6  3.7  -  - 
actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans  (0.6)  0.1  (0.6)  0.1

 360.8  342.7  0.3  0.7
deferred tax assets set off  67.8  71.0  -  - 
deferred tax liabilities set off  -  -  0.3  0.7
Net	deferred	tax	liabilities  293.0  271.7  -  - 
Movements:
opening balance at 1 July  342.7  329.4  0.7  0.9
charged/(credited) to the income statement  (2.4)  9.9  (0.1)  0.1
charged/(credited) to equity  20.5  13.6  (0.3)  (0.3)
transfer from deferred tax assets  -  (10.2)  -  - 
closing balance at 30 June  360.8  342.7  0.3  0.7

Tax	Consolidation
effective 1 July 2002, tabcorp holdings limited (‘the head company’) and its 100% owned 
subsidiaries formed an income tax consolidation group.  members of the tax consolidation 
group entered into a tax sharing arrangement that provides for the allocation of income 
tax liabilities between the entities should the head company default on its tax payment 
obligations.  at balance date, the possibility of default is remote.

Tax	effect	accounting	by	members	of	the	tax	consolidation	group
members of the tax consolidation group have entered into a tax funding agreement effective 
from 1 July 2005.  Under the terms of the tax funding agreement, the head company and 
each of the members in the tax consolidation group have agreed to make a tax equivalent 
payment to or from the head company, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset 
of the member.  deferred taxes are recorded by members of the tax consolidation group in 
accordance with the principles of aasb 112 ‘income taxes’.  calculations under the tax funding 
agreement are undertaken for statutory reporting purposes.

the allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as either an increase 
or decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidation group 
head company.  the group has chosen to adopt the group allocation method as outlined in 
interpretation 1052 ‘tax consolidation accounting’ as the basis to determine each members’ 
current and deferred taxes.  the group allocation method as adopted by the group will not 
give rise to any contribution or distribution of the subsidiaries’ equity accounts as there 
will not be any differences between the current tax amount that is allocated under the tax 
funding agreement and the amount that is allocated under the group allocation method.
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Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007

 Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
5. Dividends
Dividends	declared	and	paid	during	the	
year	on	ordinary	shares
(a)  Final dividend for 2007 of 47.0 cents 

(2006: 45.0 cents)  246.7 236.2  246.7 236.2
(b)  interim dividend for 2008 of 47.0 cents 

(2007: 47.0 cents)  246.7 246.8  246.7  246.8
21  493.4  483.0  493.4  483.0

Dividends	declared	after	balance	date
since the end of the financial year, the 
directors declared the following dividend:
special - 47.0 cents per share  246.7  -  246.7  - 
Final - 47.0 cents per share  -  246.7  -  246.7

the financial effect of this dividend 
has not been brought to account in 
the financial statements and will be 
recognised in subsequent financial reports 
(refer to note 31).
Franking	credit	balance
Franking credits available at the 30% 
corporate tax rate after allowing for tax 
payable provided for in the financial 
statements, payment of dividends 
provided and receipt of dividends 
receivable as at balance date - calculated 
under the tax paid basis: 193.8  191.3
Franking credits available once the impact 
of dividends declared after balance date 
has been incorporated: 88.1  85.6

dividends on ordinary shares are fully franked at a tax rate of 30%.

Consolidated  
2008 

$m
2007 

 $m 
6. Earnings per share
(a)	 Earnings	used	in	calculating	earnings	per	share

Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share
net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent entity (164.6) 450.4

 Consolidated  
2008 

Number 
 2007  

number 

(b)	 Weighted	average	number	of	shares	used	as	the	denominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 
calculating basic earnings per share 524,927,016 524,927,016
Effect of dilution:
- options and performance options  239,040  659,559
- performance rights  518,563  406,940
Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted  
for the effect of dilution 525,684,619  525,993,515
Weighted average number of converted, lapsed or cancelled 
potential ordinary shares included in diluted earnings per share 77,581  51,665

(c)	 Information	concerning	the	classification	of	securities
(i)	 Options	and	Performance	Options
options and performance options granted to employees are considered to be potential 
ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share 
to the extent to which they are dilutive.  the options and performance options have not been 
included in the determination of basic earnings per share.  details relating to options and 
performance options are set out in note 26. 

the following performance options granted are not included in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share because they are not dilutive.  these performance options could 
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future:



Financial report 2008 17

 Consolidated

Note
 2008  

Number 
 2007  

number 
- issue date 7 september 2004 26  859,474  -
- issue date 3 march 2005 26  38,834  50,574
- issue date 7 september 2005 26  687,289  731,765
- issue date 3 march 2006 26  120,343  - 
- issue date 3 april 2006 26  112,500  112,500
- issue date 17 november 2006 26  896,005  955,964

(ii)	 Performance	Rights
performance rights granted to employees are considered to be potential ordinary shares and 
have been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which 
they are dilutive.  the performance rights have not been included in the determination of 
basic earnings per share.  details relating to performance rights are set out in note 26.

there have been no other significant transactions involving ordinary shares or potential 
ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial 
statements.

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
7. Cash and cash equivalents
cash on hand and in banks  98.5 108.4  2.1 4.7
short term deposits, maturing within 30 days  74.7 93.8  22.6 35.2

 173.2  202.2  24.7  39.9
8. Receivables
Current
trade debtors  61.1 28.1  -  - 
allowance for doubtful debts(a)  (18.1) (9.8)  -  - 

 43.0  18.3  -  - 
sundry debtors  21.8 13.3  0.2 0.1
amounts receivable from controlled 
entities 29  - -  2,312.9 2,446.7

 64.8  31.6  2,313.1  2,446.8

(a)	 Allowance	for	doubtful	debts
trade debtors are non-interest bearing and are generally 30 day terms.

an allowance for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that an 
individual trade debt is impaired. 

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts:
allowance for doubtful debts at the beginning  
of the year  (9.8)  (10.9)  -  - 
net doubtful debt (expense)/reversal  
for the year(i)  (8.7)  0.6  -  - 
amounts written off(i)  0.4  0.5  -  - 

 (18.1)  (9.8)  - -
(i)  amounts are included in other expenses.

0 - 30 days > 30 days  Total 
Ageing analysis of trade debtors  $m  $m  $m 
2008 - Consolidated
current  34.6  -  34.6
past due not impaired  -  8.4  8.4
considered impaired  -  18.1  18.1

 34.6  26.5  61.1
2007 - Consolidated
current  13.4  -  13.4
past due not impaired  -  4.9  4.9
considered impaired  1.5  8.3  9.8

 14.9  13.2  28.1

other balances within receivables do not contain doubtful debts and are not past due.   
it is expected that these other balances will be received when due. 
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 Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
9. Inventories
consumable stores at cost  14.1  16.7  -  - 
provision for obsolescence  (0.7)  (2.0)  -  - 

 13.4  14.7  -  - 
Finished goods and stores at net realisable 
value  - 0.4  -  -
  13.4  15.1  -  - 

10. Other assets
Current
prepayments  17.5 15.7  2.3  2.5
rental in advance  0.2 0.3  -  - 
other  5.9 2.7  -  - 

 23.6  18.7  2.3  2.5
Non current
prepayments  10.1  0.8  -  - 
rental in advance  11.3  11.5  -  - 
pension asset 27  -  0.3  -  0.3
other  2.1  1.1  -  - 

 23.5  13.7  -  0.3

11. Assets and liabilities held for sale
Assets held for sale
Current
cash and cash equivalents  -  5.1  -  - 
receivables  -  0.1  -  - 
property, plant and equipment  -  6.6  -  - 
intangibles  -  3.3  -  - 

 -  15.1  -  - 
Liabilities held for sale
Current
payables  -  4.6  -  - 
the assets and liabilities held for sale related to certain international  operations, which were 
disposed of on 19 december 2007.

 Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
12. Property, plant and equipment
land and buildings:
Freehold land:
- at cost(i)  109.6  111.2  -  - 
buildings:
- at cost(i)  915.9  881.3  -  - 
-  accumulated depreciation and impairment  (140.5)  (105.8)  -  - 

 775.4  775.5  -  - 
total land and buildings, net  885.0  886.7  -  - 
leasehold improvements:
- at cost(i)  344.0  327.0  0.4  0.1
- accumulated depreciation  (106.1)  (91.1)  -  - 
total leasehold improvements, net  237.9  235.9  0.4  0.1
plant and equipment:
- at cost(i)  997.4  894.2  8.3  11.2
-  accumulated depreciation and impairment  (621.0)  (555.0)  (5.2)  (5.0)
total plant and equipment, net  376.4  339.2  3.1  6.2

 1,499.3  1,461.8  3.5  6.3

(i)  includes capital works in progress of:
Freehold land - at cost  -  1.6  -  - 
buildings - at cost  27.9  73.2  -  - 
leasehold improvements - at cost  10.6  2.0  0.4  0.1
plant and equipment - at cost  80.2  49.6  2.0  2.7
total capital works in progress  118.7  126.4  2.4  2.8
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Freehold 
land Buildings

 Leasehold 
improvements 

Plant and 
equipment

Reconciliations $m $m  $m  $m 
2008 - Consolidated
carrying amount at beginning of year  111.2  775.5  235.9  339.2
additions  -  35.4  17.7  139.5
reclassification/transfer  (1.6)  -  -  - 
disposals  -  -  -  (0.9)
impairment  -  (23.2)  -  (15.8)
depreciation expense  -  (12.3)  (15.7)  (85.6)
carrying amount at end of year  109.6  775.4  237.9  376.4

2008 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
carrying amount at beginning of year  -  -  0.1  6.2
additions  -  -  1.0  0.9
reclassification/transfer  -  -  (0.7)  (3.2)
disposals  -  -  -  (0.1)
depreciation expense  -  -  -  (0.7)
carrying amount at end of year  -  -  0.4  3.1

Freehold 
land Buildings

 Leasehold 
improvements 

Plant and 
equipment

Reconciliations $m $m  $m  $m 
2007 - Consolidated
carrying amount at beginning of year  113.6  749.0  248.6  331.1
additions  -  41.5  1.9  100.7
reclassification/transfer  (1.8)  2.7  0.4  (0.2)
disposals  (0.6)  (2.0)  -  (1.1)
impairment  -  (1.0)  -  (1.2)
transfer to assets held for sale  -  -  -  (6.6)
depreciation expense  -  (14.7)  (15.0)  (83.5)
carrying amount at end of year  111.2  775.5  235.9  339.2

2007 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
carrying amount at beginning of year  -  -  -  7.4
additions  -  -  0.1  1.5
reclassification/transfer  -  -  -  (0.9)
disposals  -  -  -  (0.3)
depreciation expense  -  -  -  (1.5)
carrying amount at end of year  -  -  0.1  6.2
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 Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
13. Intangible assets - licences
Victorian wagering and gaming licences(i):
- at cost  477.9  597.2  477.9 597.2
- accumulated amortisation  (368.4)  -  (368.4)  - 

 109.5  597.2  109.5  597.2
nsW wagering licence:
- at cost  339.1  339.1  -  - 
- accumulated amortisation  (14.8)  (11.1)  -  - 

 324.3  328.0  -  - 
star city and treasury casino licences:
- at cost  294.7  294.7  -  - 
- accumulated amortisation  (37.4)  (34.2)  -  - 

 257.3  260.5  -  - 
Queensland Keno licence:
- at cost  43.7  43.7  -  - 
- accumulated amortisation  (10.9)  (8.6)  -  - 

 32.8  35.1  -  - 
 723.9  1,220.8  109.5  597.2

(i)		Accounting	for	Victorian	wagering	and	gaming	licences
since 1994, the Victorian wagering and gaming licences (‘the Victorian licences’) and the 
entitlement to receive a cash payment in respect of the Victorian licences were accounted  
for as a single intangible asset.

on 10 april 2008 the Victorian government announced that it had decided to move to a  
new industry structure for gaming, wagering and keno in Victoria beyond 2012 and also  
stated that it had formed the view that the company is not entitled to compensation  
(‘the announcement’).

as a consequence of the Victorian government statement of april 2008 in respect of the 
Victorian licences, the company has determined that the most appropriate accounting 
treatment under aiFrs is to record two separate assets as follows:

(a)	 Intangible	Asset	–	licences	
  an intangible asset representing the company’s right to use the Victorian licences for the  

18 years until expiry in 2012 at cost of $477.9 million and with no residual value.  as the 
Victorian licences have no residual value they are amortised on a straight line basis over  
the 18 year useful life until the Victorian licences expire in 2012.

(b)	 Other	Receivables	–	Receivable	in	respect	of	Victorian	licences	
  a financial asset representing the company’s entitlement to receive a cash payment of  

$686.8 million in respect of the Victorian licences at present value of $474.6 million at  
30 June 2008, refer note 16.

  pursuant to section 4.3.12 of the gambling regulation act 2003 (Vic) (‘the act’) on the 
grant of new licences, the company is entitled to be paid an amount equal to the licence 
value of the former licences or the premium paid by the new licensee, whichever is the 
lesser.  the company’s estimate of the payment to be received in 2012 is $686.8 million. 

  in accordance with aasb 139 ‘Financial instruments: recognition and measurement’ the 
company has assessed the estimated cash flows of the receivable for recoverability.  given  
the uncertainty created by the announcement the receivable in respect of the Victorian 
licences is considered impaired and the full value has been provided for at 30 June 2008.  

  the company intends to pursue all available options in relation to recovery of the 
payment from the government. 

the company has determined that the financial effect of the revised accounting treatment  
is not material to the prior period, and therefore the prior period has not been restated.   
the financial effect of a restatement of the prior period would have been as follows:

net assets and retained earnings decrease by $ ■ 27.1 million;
non-current other receivables increase by $ ■ 434.0 million;
intangible assets - licences decrease by $ ■ 461.1 million; and
net profit for the year ended  ■ 30 June 2007 increase of $10.6 million.



Financial report 2008 21

Victorian 
wagering 

& gaming 
licences

NSW 
wagering 

licence

 Star City 
& Treasury 

casino 
licences

Queensland 
Keno licence

Reconciliations $m  $m  $m  $m 
2008 - Consolidated
carrying amount at beginning of year  597.2  328.0  260.5  35.1
revision of accounting treatment(i)  (461.1)  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  (26.6)  (3.7)  (3.2)  (2.3)
carrying amount at end of year  109.5  324.3  257.3  32.8

2008 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
carrying amount at beginning of year  597.2  -  -  - 
revision of accounting treatment(i)  (461.1)  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  (26.6)  -  -  - 
carrying amount at end of year  109.5  -  -  - 

2007 - Consolidated
carrying amount at beginning of year  597.2  331.7  263.7  37.5
amortisation expense  -  (3.7)  (3.2)  (2.4)
carrying amount at end of year  597.2  328.0  260.5  35.1

2007 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
carrying amount at beginning of year  597.2  -  -  - 
carrying amount at end of year  597.2  -  -  - 

 Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
14. Intangible assets - other
goodwill:
- at cost  3,537.5  3,537.5  -  - 
- accumulated impairment  (346.9)  (152.9)  -  - 

 3,190.6  3,384.6  -  - 
customer contracts and relationships:
- at cost  2.9  2.9  -  - 
- accumulated amortisation  (1.0)  (0.7)  -  - 

 1.9  2.2  -  - 
software:
- at cost(i)  299.8  251.9  7.1  10.5
- accumulated amortisation and impairment  (141.1)  (114.0)  (3.6)  (3.3)

 158.7  137.9  3.5  7.2
other:
- at cost  20.6  20.6  -  - 
- accumulated amortisation  (1.5)  (1.1)  -  - 

 19.1  19.5  -  - 

brand names at cost  105.9  105.9  -  - 

broadcast rights at cost  6.5  6.5  -  - 

media content at cost  24.1  24.1  -  - 
 3,506.8  3,680.7  3.5  7.2

(i)  includes capital works in progress  51.0  18.6  1.6  1.5
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14. Intangible assets - other (continued)

Goodwill

Customer 
contracts & 

relationships Software Other
Brand 

names
Broadcast 

rights
Media 

content

Reconciliations $m  $m  $m $m  $m  $m  $m 
2008 - Consolidated
carrying amount at 
beginning of year 3,384.6 2.2 137.9 19.5 105.9  6.5 24.1
additions  
- acquired  -  -  3.9  -  -  -  - 
- internally developed  -  -  46.7  -  -  -  - 
disposals  -  -  (0.1)  -  -  -  - 
impairment(i)  (194.0)  -  -  -  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  -  (0.3)  (29.7)  (0.4)  -  -  - 
carrying amount at 
end of year  3,190.6  1.9  158.7  19.1  105.9  6.5  24.1
2008 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
carrying amount at 
beginning of year  -  -  7.2  -  -  -  - 
additions - internally 
developed  -  -  0.5  -  -  -  - 
reclassification/
transfer  -  -  (3.6)  -  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  -  -  (0.6)  -  -  -  - 
carrying amount at 
end of year  -  -  3.5  -  -  -  - 

(i)  the impairment of goodwill in the wagering segment reflects the changing competitive environment, uncertainty  
in the regulatory regime and the impact of challenges in recent years including equine influenza. 

Goodwill

Customer 
contracts & 

relationships Software Other
Brand 

names
Broadcast 

rights
Media 

content

Reconciliations $m  $m  $m $m  $m  $m  $m 
2007 - Consolidated
carrying amount at 
beginning of year 3,384.6 2.4 133.3 19.7 105.9  6.5 24.1
additions  
- acquired  -  -  6.4  0.1  -  -  -  
- internally developed  -  -  32.1  -  -  -  - 
reclassification/
transfer  -  -  (0.4)  -  -  -  - 
disposals  -  -  (4.3)  -  -  -  - 
transfer to assets held 
for sale  -  -  (3.3)  -  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  -  (0.2)  (25.9)  (0.3)  -  -  - 
carrying amount at 
end of year  3,384.6  2.2  137.9  19.5  105.9  6.5  24.1
2007 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
carrying amount at 
beginning of year  -  - 26.4  -  -  -  - 
additions - internally 
developed  -  -  0.7  -  -  -  - 
reclassification/
transfer  -  -  (17.9)  -  -  -  - 
disposals  -  -  (0.6)  -  -  -  - 
amortisation expense  -  -  (1.4)  -  -  -  - 
carrying amount at 
end of year  -  -  7.2  -  -  -  - 
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15. Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (brand names, broadcast rights and media content) acquired through business combinations have been allocated to the applicable 
cash generating unit or group of units for impairment testing. each cash generating unit represents a business operation of the group.

Carrying	amount	of	goodwill	and	intangible	assets	with	indefinite	useful	lives	allocated	to	each	cash	generating	unit	or	group	of	units:

Cash generating unit(s) Star City
Conrad 

Jupiters
Conrad 

Treasury
Combined 
Wagering

Wagering 
Victoria

Wagering 
NSW

SKY 
Channel

Gaming 
Victoria

Queensland 
Keno

Total 
carrying 
amount(Segment)  (Casinos) (Casinos) (Casinos) (Wagering) (Wagering) (Wagering) (Wagering) (Gaming) (Gaming) Other(i)

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m
2008 - Consolidated
goodwill 575.6 514.3 347.7 1,547.1(ii) - - - 47.2 129.6 29.1 3,190.6
brand names - - - - - 98.8 6.7 - - 0.4 105.9
broadcast rights - - - - - - - - - 6.5 6.5
media content - - - - - - 24.1 - - - 24.1

575.6 514.3 347.7 1,547.1 - 98.8 30.8 47.2 129.6 36.0 3,327.1
2007 - Consolidated
goodwill 575.6 514.3 347.7 - 209.3 1,317.0 212.6 47.2 129.6 31.3 3,384.6
brand names - - - - - 98.8 6.7 - - 0.4 105.9
broadcast rights - - - - - - - - - 6.5 6.5
media content - - - - - - 24.1 - - - 24.1

575.6 514.3 347.7 - 209.3 1,415.8 243.4 47.2 129.6 38.2 3,521.1

(i)  represents an allocation to other cash generating units where the individual amount allocated per cash generating unit is not considered significant.
(ii)  goodwill in the wagering segment has been allocated at the segment level for impairment testing in the current year. an impairment write down in goodwill has been recognised, as outlined in note 14.
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15. Impairment testing of goodwill and intangibles with indefinite lives (continued)
the recoverable amount of each cash generating unit is determined based on fair value less 
selling costs, which is calculated using the discounted cash flow approach. this approach 
utilises cash flow forecasts that are principally based upon board-approved business plans for 
a five-year period and extrapolated using growth rates ranging from 2.0% to 4.5%.  these cash 
flows are then discounted using a relevant pre tax weighted average cost of capital, ranging 
from 13.1% to 14.9%. 

Key	assumptions
the following describes the key assumptions on which management based its cash flow 
projections when determining fair value less selling costs to undertake impairment testing  
of goodwill and intangibles:

i.	 Cash	flow	forecasts
the cash flow forecasts are based upon the board approved five-year business plan for each 
cash generating unit.

cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using growth rates which are either 
in line with or do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industry in which the 
cash generating unit operates.

the terminal growth rate used is in line with the forecast long term underlying growth rate in cpi. 

ii.	 State	tax	regimes
the state tax regimes in which the group operates remain largely unchanged.

iii.	 Regulatory
there are no regulatory amendments which would adversely impact gaming patronage or 
profitability of the casino properties.

iv.	 Discount	rates
discount rates used are the pre tax weighted average cost of capital applicable to the relevant 
industry in which the cash generating unit operates.

v.		 Victorian	wagering	and	gaming	licences
the Victorian wagering and gaming licences are assumed to expire in august 2012.

the key estimates and assumptions used to determine the fair value less costs to sell of a cash 
generating unit are based on management’s current expectations.  significant changes in any 
of these key estimates and assumptions may result in a cash generating unit’s carrying value  
exceeding its recoverable value requiring an impairment charge to be recognised at a future date.

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
16. Other receivables
Non current
receivable in respect of Victorian licences 13  474.6  -  474.6  - 
allowance for impairment(a) 13  (474.6)  -  (474.6)  - 

 -  -  -  - 
other  2.1  -  2.1  - 

 2.1  -  2.1  - 

(a)	 Movement	in	the	allowance	for	impairment:
allowance for impairment at the 
beginning of the year  -  -  -  - 
impairment for the year  (474.6)  -  (474.6)  - 

 (474.6)  -  (474.6)  - 

17. Payables
Current
trade creditors and accrued expenses - unsecured  407.3  379.8  23.9 19.0

18. Interest bearing liabilities
Current
bank loans - unsecured  -  390.0  -  - 
Non current
bank loans - unsecured  1,084.8  677.1  -  - 
medium term notes(i):
- fixed interest rate  383.3  382.8  -  - 
- floating interest rate  64.9  64.8  -  - 
private placement(ii):
- Us dollar(iii)  637.0  726.2  -  - 
- australian dollar  99.7  99.7  -  - 

 2,269.7  1,950.6  -  - 

(i) mature in october 2011.
(ii)  mature in december 2014, december 2016, and december 2019. 
(iii) aggregate Us dollar principal of $625.0 million. 
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Fair	value	disclosures
details of the fair value of the group’s interest bearing liabilities are set out in note 33(a).

Financing	arrangements
the facilities consisted of:

Type
Amount  

$m
2008  

Expiry date 
2007  

expiry date 
syndicated revolving facility  260.0  april 2010  april 2010 

 375.0  october 2010  october 2008 
 265.0  october 2012  october 2007 

revolving facility  180.0  october 2008  october 2008 
 200.0  march 2010  march 2010 
 125.0  october 2010  october 2007 
 150.0  February 2011 n/a 

each of the above facilities is subject to financial undertakings as to net worth, gearing and 
interest cover.

 Consolidated Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
19. Provisions
Current
employee benefits  53.0  52.6  2.5  2.1
Workers’ compensation  11.2  13.2  -  - 
onerous contract - surplus lease space  1.6  1.5  -  - 
management agreement - gold coast and 
brisbane casinos  16.4  17.4  -  - 
restructuring costs  6.8  18.8  4.6  14.2
other  9.7  11.2  0.6  2.0

 98.7  114.7  7.7  18.3
Non current
employee benefits  8.9  10.7  0.3  0.3
onerous contract - surplus lease space  2.0  3.5  -  - 
management agreement - gold coast and 
brisbane casinos  12.3  28.3  -  - 
other  2.2  2.8  0.3  0.3

 25.4  45.3  0.6  0.6
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19. Provisions (continued)
Reconciliations
reconciliations of each class of provision, except for employee benefits, at the end of the current financial year are set out below: 

Workers’ 
compensation 

Onerous contract - 
surplus lease space

Management 
agreement -  

Gold Coast and 
Brisbane casinos 

 Restructuring 
costs   Other 

$m $m $m  $m $m
2008 - Consolidated
carrying amount at beginning of year  13.2  5.0  45.7  18.8  14.0 
provisions made during the year  2.3  -    -    2.7  8.1 
payments made during the year  (3.2)  (1.5)  (23.8)  (14.2)  (5.7)
Unused amounts reversed  (1.1)  -    -    (0.5)  (4.5)
discount on provisions  -    0.1  6.8  -  -   
carrying amount at end of year  11.2  3.6  28.7  6.8  11.9 
carrying amount at end of year
- current 11.2  1.6  16.4  6.8  9.7 
- non current -    2.0  12.3  -  2.2 

11.2  3.6  28.7  6.8  11.9 
carrying amount at beginning of year
- current 13.2  1.5  17.4  18.8  11.2 
- non current -    3.5  28.3  -  2.8 

 13.2  5.0  45.7  18.8  14.0 
2008 - Parent
carrying amount at beginning of year  -    -    -    14.2  2.3 
provisions made during the year  -    -    -    -  2.1 
payments made during the year  -    -    -    (9.1)  (1.4)
Unused amounts reversed  -    -    -    (0.5)  (2.1)
carrying amount at end of year  -    -    -    4.6  0.9 
carrying amount at end of year
- current  -    -    -    4.6  0.6 
- non current  -    -    -    -  0.3
  -    -    -    4.6  0.9 
carrying amount at beginning of year
- current  -    -    -    14.2  2.0 
- non current  -    -    - - 0.3
  -    -    -    14.2  2.3 
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Nature	and	timing	of	provisions
(i)		Workers’	compensation
the casinos self insure for workers’ compensation in both new south Wales and Queensland. 
a valuation of the estimated claims liability for workers’ compensation is undertaken annually 
by an independent actuary, mr andrew cohen Fiaa Fia and mr mark hurst Fiaa (Finity 
consulting pty ltd).

the valuations are prepared in accordance with the relevant legislative requirements of each 
state and professional standard 300 of the institute of actuaries. the estimate of claims 
liability includes a margin over case estimates to allow for the future development of known 
claims, the cost of incurred but not reported (ibnr) claims and claims handling expenses, 
which are determined using a range of assumptions.

the group provides a risk margin in addition to the actuarially estimated claims liability.

(ii)		Onerous	contract	-	surplus	lease	space
in 1995, a 15 year non cancellable lease contract was entered into by star city pty ltd for 
commercial premises in Ultimo, new south Wales. a surplus lease space provision has been 
recognised as the premises are not occupied by the group and the lease expenses exceed the 
rental income from a number of sub-leases to third party tenants. the provision represents 
the present value of the estimated liability for the group to the expiration of the lease in  
april 2010 for its obligations under the lease agreement, assuming no further space is sub-let.

(iii)		Management	agreement	-	Gold	Coast	and	Brisbane	casinos
the treasury and gold coast casinos were managed by a third party under contract at the 
time of the acquisition of Jupiters limited by the group in 2003. a provision of $115.9 million 
was included in the determination of the fair value of the net assets and liabilities acquired. 
the contract matures in april 2010.

(iv)		Restructuring	costs	
the restructuring provisions relate principally to the implementation of a group-wide  
shared services centre, and other business-led cost saving restructures and initiatives.   
the restructuring plan is expected to be completed in the next financial year. 

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
20. Other liabilities
Current
deferred revenue  1.3  1.6  - -
other  0.6  1.0  - -

 1.9  2.6  - -
Non current
deferred revenue  1.3  2.5  - -
pension liability 27  1.9  -  1.9 -

 3.2  2.5  1.9 -

21. Capital and reserves
(a)	 Issued	capital
ordinary shares - issued and fully paid(i)  3,198.9 3,199.0  3,198.9  3,199.0
treasury shares(ii)  (3.5) (6.7)  (0.8)  (1.0)

 3,195.4  3,192.3  3,198.1  3,198.0

(i)	 Ordinary	shares
there is only one class of share (ordinary shares) on issue.  these ordinary shares entitle the 
holder to participate in dividends and proceeds on winding up of the company in proportion 
to the number and amounts paid on the shares held.  on a show of hands every holder of 
ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a 
poll each share is entitled to one vote.  the company does not have authorised capital nor par 
value in respect of its issued shares.
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21. Capital and reserves (continued)
(i)	 Ordinary	shares	(continued)

 2008  2007 
Number  

of shares  $m 
number  

of shares  $m 
Movements in ordinary share capital:
ordinary share capital at the 
beginning of the financial year

 
524,927,016  3,199.0

 
524,927,016 3,199.6

employee deferred share plan(a)  -  -  51,595 0.8
buy backs  -  -  (51,595) (0.8)
transfer from employee equity 
benefit reserve(b)  -  0.4  - 0.2
net outlay to purchase shares(c)  -  (0.5)  - (0.8)
ordinary share capital at the  
end of the financial year

 
524,927,016  3,198.9

 
524,927,016  3,199.0

(a)  refer to note 26 for details of the employee deferred share plan.
(b)   transfer on vesting of performance options and performance rights.
(c)  net outlay for the purchase of company shares for performance options and performance rights exercised  

by certain executives in lieu of issuing new share capital.

(ii)	 Treasury	shares
treasury shares comprise:

the balance of limited recourse loans provided to employees in employee share plans  ■

(loans ceased being granted in 2003); and
the unvested portion of restricted shares issued to executives as an incentive on  ■

appointment or for retention.
Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Movements in treasury shares:
treasury shares at the beginning of the financial year (6.7) (23.3)  (1.0) (2.4)
restricted shares issued (1.4) (0.4)  (1.4) (0.4)
share based payments expense - company 0.6 0.1  0.6 0.1
share based payments expense - other group entities 1.0 0.9  1.0 0.9
transfer of limited recourse loan to receivable 1.0 -  - -
repayments(a) 2.0 16.0  - 0.8
treasury shares at the end of the financial year  (3.5)  (6.7)  (0.8)  (1.0)

(a)  refer to note 26 for details of the employee share plans.

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
(b)	 Retained	earnings/(accumulated	losses)
Movements in retained earnings/
(accumulated losses):
retained earnings at the beginning of the 
financial year  168.6 201.7  299.1  509.5
net actuarial loss on defined benefit plan  (0.8) (0.5)  (0.8)  (0.5)
net profit/(loss) attributable to members 
of the parent entity  (164.6) 450.4  (184.4)  273.1
dividends paid 5  (493.4) (483.0)  (493.4)  (483.0)
retained earnings/(accumulated losses)  
at the end of the financial year  (490.2)  168.6  (379.5)  299.1

(c)	 Reserves
Net unrealised gains/losses reserve(i)

balance at start of period  7.8  (24.2)  -  - 
change in fair value of cash flow hedges  48.8  32.0  -  - 
total for the period  56.6  7.8  -  - 
Employee equity benefit reserve(ii)

balance at start of period  7.4 5.0  7.4  5.0
share based payments expense - company  0.7 0.9  0.7  0.9
share based payments expense - other 
group entities  1.3  1.7  1.3  1.7
transfers to share capital(a)  (0.4)  (0.2)  (0.4)  (0.2)
total for the period  9.0  7.4  9.0  7.4
total reserves  65.6  15.2  9.0  7.4

(a)  transfer on vesting of performance options and performance rights.

Nature	and	purpose	of	reserves
(i)   records fair value changes on the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument  

in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge.

(ii)   records the movement of equity benefits provided to executives and employees as part  
of their remuneration (refer to note 26).
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(d)	 Capital	management	
the group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure the group continues as a going 
concern while providing optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, 
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

in order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of 
dividends to be paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  
the group has a target of an investment grade credit rating.  gearing is managed primarily 
through the ratio of gross debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation  
and impairment (ebitda).

the group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Consolidated
2008  2007

$m  $m 
interest bearing liabilities 2,269.7  2,340.6
ebitda 1,075.2 947.8

Consolidated
2008  2007

gearing ratio 2.1  2.5

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
22. Minority interests
Interest in:
ordinary shares  -  9.9  -  - 
retained earnings  -  (1.8)  -  - 
closing balance  -  8.1  -  - 

23. Notes to the cash flow statement
(a)		 Reconciliation	of	cash
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, 
deposits at call and bank accepted bills, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. cash at the end  
of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the related items  
in the balance sheet as follows:

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

Note  $m  $m  $m  $m 
cash on hand and in banks 7  98.5  108.4  2.1  4.7
short term deposits, maturing within 30 days 7  74.7  93.8  22.6  35.2
assets held for sale 11  -  5.1  -  - 

 173.2  207.3  24.7  39.9
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23. Notes to the cash flow statement (continued)
(b)	 	Reconciliation	of	net	profit/(loss)	after	tax	to	net	cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Net profit/(loss) after tax  (165.0)  449.5  (184.4)  273.1
Add/(less) items classified as investing/
financing activities:
- net gain on disposal of controlled entity  (0.4)  -  -  - 
- net (gain)/loss on disposal of non current assets  (1.4)  2.0  0.1  0.9
Add/(less) non cash income and expense items:
- depreciation expense  102.6  104.1  0.7  1.5
- amortisation expense  90.3  38.2  54.3  1.4
- impairment  707.6  2.2  474.6  -  
- share based payments expense  3.4  3.7  1.3  1.0
 - net fair value change on derivatives  (7.5)  0.5  -  -  
- unwinding of discount  (40.6)  -  (40.6)  -  
- other  0.9  -  0.9  - 
net cash provided by operating activities 
before changes in assets and liabilities  689.9 600.2  306.9  277.9
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(increase)/decrease in:
- trade and sundry receivables  (32.7) 8.0  (0.1)  0.2
- inventories  2.5 (0.1)  -  - 
- prepayments  (11.3) (1.5)  0.2  (1.7)
- accrued interest income  - 0.1  -  (0.1)
- amounts receivable from controlled 
entities  - -  (355.6)  (318.7)
- deferred tax assets  - -  1.1  (6.5)
- other assets  (4.1) (1.3)  -  - 
(decrease)/increase in:
- payables  11.4 33.8  4.9  2.9
- provisions  (42.0) (25.3)  (10.6)  17.6
- deferred tax liabilities  (2.2) 12.7  -  - 
- provision for income tax  39.1 (20.1)  38.7  (17.8)
- other liabilities  1.7  2.2  0.8  - 
net cash from operating activities  652.3 608.7  (13.7) (46.2)

24. Commitments
(a)	 Capital	expenditure	commitments

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for and payable:
not later than one year  33.4 47.1  - 0.4
later than one year but not later than five years  24.4 9.5  - -

 57.8 56.6  - 0.4
Software
contracted but not provided for and payable:
not later than one year  2.3  5.1  -  1.0

 2.3  5.1  -  1.0
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Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
(b)	 Operating	lease	commitments
contracted but not provided for and payable:
not later than one year  30.6 32.6  2.5 2.4
later than one year but not later than five years  64.1 77.5  5.2 7.7
later than five years  85.9 95.9  - -

 180.6  206.0  7.7  10.1

non cancellable sub-leases exist in relation to 
the operating lease commitments disclosed 
above with the following future minimum lease 
payments contracted to be received:

not later than one year  1.6 1.4  -  - 
later than one year but not later than five years  2.9 1.7  -  - 

 4.5  3.1  -  - 

the group leases property under operating leases 
expiring from 1 to 85 years. leases generally 
provide the group with a right of renewal at 
which time all terms are renegotiated.  lease 
payments comprise a base amount plus an 
incremental contingent rental. contingent rentals 
are based on either movements in the consumer 
price index or are subject to market rate review.

(c)	 Operating	expenditure	commitments
contracted but not provided for and payable(i):
not later than one year  89.4 48.0  -  - 
later than one year but not later than five years  340.2 194.0  -  - 
later than five years  25.0 86.2  -  - 

 454.6 328.2  -  - 

(i)   long term contracts for telecommunication services, racing club broadcast rights and information technology services.

25. Segment information 
the group’s primary format of segment reporting is on a business segment basis.

the group has three main business segments:

Casinos  casino operations including hotels, apartment complex, theatres, restaurants  
and bars. 

Wagering comprises:
totalisator and fixed odds betting activities; and ■

national and international broadcasting of racing and sporting events. ■

Gaming gaming machine and Keno operations in licensed clubs and hotels.

the group’s business segments are predominantly located in, and provide services to one 
geographical segment, australia.  operations outside of australia were not material in the 
reporting periods. 

Unallocated includes residual international technology and product sales.

intersegment pricing is determined on commercial terms and conditions.
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25. Segment information (continued)

Casinos Wagering Gaming Unallocated Elimination Consolidated
$m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

2008 - Consolidated
total operating 
revenues - external 1,352.3  1,469.9  1,133.6  1.2  -  3,957.0
other revenues  
- external 7.1  7.7  20.6  50.0  -  85.4
intersegment revenue 5.2  -  -  -  (5.2)  - 
revenues 1,364.6  1,477.6  1,154.2  51.2  (5.2)  4,042.4
Segment Result  
(pre impairment) 408.1 247.1 225.0  880.2
Segment Result 369.1 (98.8) (97.7)  172.6
Unallocated items:
-  interest revenue 9.3
-  operating revenues 1.2
-  other revenues 40.7
-   other income and 

expenses  0.8
-  finance costs (168.4)
profit before income tax  56.2
income tax expense (221.2)
Loss for the period  (165.0)
depreciation and 
amortisation 61.7  67.1  63.8  0.3  -  192.9
impairment losses 
recognised in the 
income statement 39.0  345.9  322.7  -  -  707.6
non cash expenses 
other than 
depreciation, 
amortisation and 
impairment 10.0  (0.9)  -  1.0  -  10.1
segment assets 3,170.6  2,383.9  474.8  92.4  -  6,121.7
segment liabilities 253.1  207.4  48.5  2,841.9  -  3,350.9
capital expenditure 126.5  67.2  49.5  -  -  243.2

Casinos Wagering Gaming Unallocated  Elimination  Consolidated  
$m  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m 

2007 - Consolidated
total operating 
revenues - external 1,286.6  1,464.1  1,081.8  2.5  -  3,835.0
other revenues - 
external 7.1  13.0  19.8  8.8  -  48.7
intersegment 
revenue  4.8  -  -  -  (4.8)  - 
revenues  1,298.5  1,477.1  1,101.6  11.3  (4.8)  3,883.7
Segment Result 333.9 225.7 251.1  810.7
Unallocated items:
-  interest revenue 8.6
-  operating revenues 2.5
-  other revenues 0.2
-   other income and 

expenses  (10.1)
-  finance costs (172.3)
profit before income tax  639.6
income tax expense (190.1)
Profit for the period  449.5
depreciation and 
amortisation 67.9  49.5  23.8  1.1  -  142.3
impairment losses 
recognised in the 
income statement 2.2  -  -  -  -  2.2
non cash expenses 
other than 
depreciation, 
amortisation and 
impairment (1.1)  1.7  0.3  -  -  0.9
segment assets 3,139.2  2,714.2  782.4  90.7  -  6,726.5
segment liabilities 254.8  209.1  50.7  2,827.7  -  3,342.3
capital expenditure 89.0  43.0  44.8  5.9  -  182.7
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26. Employee share plans 
the company has a number of share plans in operation which were established to enable 
eligible employees to own shares in the company, and to provide equity instruments to senior 
executives and management as a component of their remuneration.

the maximum number of shares that can be outstanding at any time under these plans is 
limited to 5% of the company’s issued capital.

these plans operate under the following names:

Plan type Employee equity participation plans Incentive equity plans
current employee deferred share plan (edsp)(i) short term performance plan (stpp)(iii)

long term performance plan (ltpp)(iii)

previous general employee share plan (gesp)(ii) senior executive long term incentive  
plan (seltip)(ii)

medium term performance plan (mtpp)(iv)

(i) implemented in 2004.
(ii) ceased being offered in 2003.
(iii) implemented in 2003.
(iv) implemented in 2007 and ceased being offered in 2008.

in addition, the company has granted restricted shares to certain executives as an incentive 
upon appointment or for retention.

the share based payments expense in respect of the equity instruments granted is recognised 
in the income statement for the period and is disclosed at note 2(e).

the nature of each plan and other relevant information is described below:

Employee	equity	participation	plans
the object of these plans is to provide the opportunity for eligible employees to own shares  
in the company and align the interest of employees with those of shareholders.

Current
Under the edsp, participants may acquire shares in the company through salary sacrifice.   
a minimum of $1,000 of shares and up to no more than 50% of remuneration may be 
purchased under the edsp each year.  shares are acquired in quarterly instalments at the 
volume weighted average share price at the time of allocation.

Previous
participants in the gesp received an interest free loan to acquire shares in the company.   
the loans mature either five years after commencement or upon cessation of employment 
and are repaid by way of instalments through salary deductions or on cessation of 
employment.  all remaining loans mature by september 2008.

Incentive	equity	plans
Current
a detailed explanation of the current incentive equity plans are disclosed in the  
remuneration report.

Previous
a detailed explanation of the previous incentive equity plans are disclosed in the 
remuneration report.

Details	of	employee	share	plans
set out below are summaries of options, performance options and performance rights 
granted under long term performance plans and service agreements.

Options,	Performance	Options	and	Performance	Rights	issued
details of options, performance options and performance rights outstanding at the end  
of the current or previous year are:

Exercise price ($)

Grant date Exercise expiry date
Options & 

Performance Options
Performance 

Rights
7 october 2002(i) (iii) 7 october 2010  12.61  n/a 
1 december 2003 1 december 2010  11.23  nil 
7 september 2004 7 september 2011  14.54  nil 
3 march 2005 3 march 2012  17.03  nil 
7 september 2005 7 september 2012  16.51  nil 
3 march 2006 3 march 2013  15.08  nil 
3 april 2006 3 april 2013  15.42  nil 
17 november 2006 17 november 2013  15.22  nil 
26 november 2007 26 november 2014  n/a  nil 
28 november 2007 28 november 2014  n/a  nil 

(i)   equity instruments granted under a service agreement.  these equity instruments were not recognised  
as an expense in the income statement as aasb 2 ‘share based payment’ excludes options granted on or  
before 7 november 2002.  
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26. Employee share plans (continued)
Options,	Performance	Options	and	Performance	Rights	issued	(continued)
Movements	in	Options,	Performance	Options	and	Performance	Rights:
Consolidated	and	Tabcorp	Holdings	-	2008

Grant date

WASP at 
exercise date (ii)  

$

Balance at  
start of year  

Number

Granted during 
the year  
Number

Forfeited 
during the year  

Number

Expired during 
the year 

Number(iii)

Exercised 
during the year 

Number

Balance at end 
of year  

Number

Exercisable at 
end of year 

Number
Options and Performance Options:
7 october 2002 15.22  1,000,000  -  - 914,835  85,165  -  - 
1 december 2003 n/a  894,056  -  17,335  -  -  876,721  - 
7 september 2004 15.11  950,959  -  14,562  -  76,923  859,474  - 
3 march 2005 n/a  50,574  -  11,740  -  -  38,834  - 
7 september 2005 n/a  731,765  -  44,476  -  -  687,289  - 
3 march 2006 n/a  131,372  -  11,029  -  -  120,343  - 
3 april 2006 n/a  112,500  -  -  -  -  112,500  - 
17 november 2006 n/a  955,964  -  59,959  -  -  896,005  - 

 4,827,190  -  159,101  914,835  162,088  3,591,166  - 
Performance Rights:
1 december 2003 n/a  110,287  -  3,542  -  -  106,745  - 
7 september 2004 15.12  125,340  -  2,971  -  10,460  111,909  - 
3 march 2005 n/a  8,901  -  2,393  -  -  6,508  - 
7 september 2005 14.79  120,458  -  8,610  -  7,103  104,745  - 
3 march 2006 n/a  18,830  -  2,238  -  -  16,592  - 
3 april 2006 n/a  15,000  -  -  -  -  15,000  - 
17 november 2006 n/a  485  -  -  -  -  485  - 
26 november 2007 n/a  -  100,000  -  -  -  100,000  - 
28 november 2007 n/a  -  410,296  48,092  -  -  362,204  - 

399,301  510,296  67,846  -  17,563  824,188  - 
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Consolidated	and	Tabcorp	Holdings	-	2007

Grant date

WASP at 
exercise date(ii)  

$

Balance at  
start of year  

Number

Granted 
during the year 

Number

Forfeited 
during the year 

Number

Exercised 
during the year 

Number

 Balance at  
end of year  

Number

Exercisable at 
end of year 

Number
Options and Performance Options:
7 october 2002 n/a  1,000,000  -  -  -  1,000,000  85,165
1 december 2003 16.02  1,025,337  -  28,488  102,793  894,056  - 
7 september 2004 15.49  1,042,225  -  73,853 17,413  950,959  - 
3 march 2005 n/a  74,097  -  23,523  -  50,574  - 
7 september 2005 n/a 1,277,029  - 545,264  -  731,765  - 
3 march 2006 n/a  143,872  - 12,500  -  131,372  - 
3 april 2006 n/a  112,500  -  -  -  112,500  - 
17 november 2006 n/a  - 1,179,484 223,520  -  955,964  - 

4,675,060 1,179,484 907,148 120,206  4,827,190 85,165
Performance Rights:
1 december 2003 15.94  129,854  -  5,567  14,000  110,287  - 
7 september 2004 15.20  141,378  -  13,670  2,368  125,340  - 
3 march 2005 n/a  13,699  -  4,798  -  8,901  - 
7 september 2005 15.20  175,628  -  53,859  1,311  120,458  - 
3 march 2006 n/a  21,366  -  2,536  -  18,830  - 
3 april 2006 n/a  15,000  -  -  -  15,000  - 
17 november 2006 n/a  -  2,628  2,143  -  485  - 

496,925 2,628 82,573 17,679  399,301  - 

(ii) denotes the weighted average share price at the date of exercise.
(iii) the balance of the one million options issued on 7 october 2002 lapsed after the final test date of 7 october 2007. 

the weighted average remaining contractual life for the options, performance options and performance rights outstanding as at 30 June 2008 is:

options and performance options:  ■ 3.5 years (2007: 4.5 years)
performance rights:  ■ 5.1 years (2007: 4.4 years)
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26. Employee share plans (continued)
Fair	value	of	equity	instruments
the options, performance options and performance rights have been independently  
valued at the date of grant using a monte-carlo simulation-based model and binomial  
tree methodology.

the assumptions underlying the options, performance options and performance rights 
valuations are:

 Share 
price at 
date of 

grant 

 Expected 
volatility 
in share 

price(i) 

Expected 
dividend 

yield(ii)

Risk free 
interest 

rate(iii)

 Value per 
Performance 

Option 

Value per 
Performance 

Right

Grant date  Expiry date $ % % %  $  $ 
7 oct 2002 7 oct 2005 12.11 20.70 5.20 4.99  0.93  n/a 
7 oct 2002 7 oct 2010 12.11 20.70 5.20 5.14(iv)  1.51  n/a 
1 dec 2003 1 dec 2010 11.19 19.80 6.00 5.98  1.31  5.65 
7 sep 2004 7 sep 2011 14.57 16.00 4.90 5.53  1.81  8.72 
3 mar 2005 3 mar 2012 16.81 16.00 4.50 5.56  2.16  10.29
7 sep 2005 7 sep 2012 16.35 16.00 4.95 5.10  1.86  10.01

3 mar 2006 3 mar 2013 15.00 16.00 5.00 5.31  1.73  9.21 
3 apr 2006 3 apr 2013 15.85 16.00 5.00 5.40  2.01  9.75 

17 nov 2006 17 nov 2013 16.69 15.00 5.00 5.83 / 5.89(v)  2.42  10.18 
17 nov 2006 17 nov 2013 16.69 15.00 5.00 5.83  2.29  n/a 
26 nov 2007 26 nov 2014 15.04 20.00 5.50 6.24  n/a  7.40 
28 nov 2007 28 nov 2014 15.01 18.00 5.00 6.34  n/a  9.35 

(i) reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends.
(ii) reflects the assumption that the current payout ratio will continue with no anticipated increases.
(iii)    represents the zero coupon interest rate derived from government bond market interest rates on the valuation date 

and vary according to each maturity date.
(iv)   represents an average of the rates used to value each of the four tranches that comprise the issue.
(v)   risk free interest rate used for performance options and performance rights respectively.

27. Pensions and other post employment benefit plans
Superannuation	funds
the tabcorp superannuation plan comprises:

an accumulation section - providing benefits based on contributions accumulated with  ■

interest; and
a defined benefit section (closed to new entrants) - providing benefits based on salary   ■

and length of service.

the group contributes to the tabcorp superannuation plan as follows:

the accumulation section at rates specified in the governing rules; and ■

the defined benefit section at rates recommended by the actuary.  ■

in addition, the group contributes superannuation on behalf of some employees to: 

industry Funds as required by enterprise agreements; and ■

other nominated superannuation funds following changes to superannuation legislation  ■

from 1 July 2005.

the following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the 
group’s income statement and the funded status and amounts recognised in the group’s 
balance sheet for the defined benefit section of the tabcorp superannuation plan.

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Movements in the net asset/(liability) recognised 
in the balance sheet:
net asset for the defined benefit obligation at 
beginning of year  0.3  1.3  0.3  1.3
expense recognised in the income statement  (1.4)  (0.6)  (1.4)  (0.6)
actuarial loss recognised in retained earnings  (1.1)  (0.8)  (1.1)  (0.8)
employer contributions  0.3  0.4  0.3  0.4
net asset/(liability) for defined benefit obligation 
at end of year  (1.9)  0.3  (1.9)  0.3
Net benefit expense recognised in the income statement
current service cost  1.2  1.2  1.2  1.2
interest cost on benefit obligation  1.3  1.1  1.3  1.1
expected return on plan assets  (1.1)  (1.7)  (1.1)  (1.7)
net benefit expense  1.4  0.6  1.4  0.6
actual return on plan assets  1.6  2.2  1.6  2.2
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 2008  2007  2006  2005 
 $m  $m  $m  $m 

Reconciliation of the net asset/(liability) 
recognised on the balance sheet
Consolidated and Tabcorp Holdings Limited
present value of defined benefit obligation  (14.7)  (24.5)  (22.6)  (24.6)
Fair value of plan assets  12.8  24.8  23.9  23.2
net benefit asset/(liability) - non current  (1.9)  0.3  1.3  (1.4)
the group has a legal liability to make up a 
deficit in the plan and also a legal right to 
benefit from any surplus in the plan.

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Reconciliation of the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation:
opening defined benefit obligation  (24.5)  (22.6)  (24.5)  (22.6)
interest cost  (1.3)  (1.1)  (1.3)  (1.1)
current service cost  (1.2)  (1.2)  (1.2)  (1.2)
benefits and taxes paid  10.8  2.1  10.8  2.1
plan participants’ contributions  (0.1)  (0.3)  (0.1)  (0.3)
actuarial gains/(losses) on obligation  1.6  (1.4)  1.6  (1.4)
closing defined benefit obligation  (14.7)  (24.5)  (14.7)  (24.5)

Reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets:
opening fair value of plan assets  24.8  23.9  24.8  23.9
expected return  1.1  1.7  1.1  1.7
contributions by employer  0.3  0.4  0.3  0.4
benefits and taxes paid  (10.8)  (2.1)  (10.8)  (2.1)
plan participants’ contributions  0.1  0.3  0.1  0.3
actuarial gains/(losses)  (2.7)  0.6  (2.7)  0.6
closing fair value of plan assets  12.8  24.8  12.8  24.8
Amounts recognised in the statement of 
recognised income and expense
actuarial loss  (1.1)  (0.8)  (1.1)  (0.8)
cumulative actuarial gains  0.7  1.8  0.7  1.8

the history of experience adjustments is as follows:
 2008  2007  2006  2005

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Consolidated and Tabcorp Holdings Limited
experience adjustments - plan liabilities  1.7  (1.7)  0.3  - 
experience adjustments - plan assets  (2.7)  0.6  3.0  - 

the group expects to contribute $0.3 million to its defined benefit plan in the 2009 financial year.

the major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as 
follows:

 2008  2007  
% %

australian equities 29.0  29.0
international equities 29.0  29.0
australian fixed interest 10.0  10.0
international fixed interest  13.0  13.0
listed property 6.7  6.7
direct property 3.3  3.3
cash 3.0  3.0
other 6.0  6.0

the overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices 
prevailing on that date, applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled.  

Actuarial	assumptions
the principal actuarial assumptions used in determining pension obligations for the group’s 
plans are shown below (expressed as weighted averages):

 2008  2007
% pa  % pa 

discount rate:
- active members 5.5  5.3
- pensioners(i) 6.5  6.2
expected salary increase rate 4.5  4.5
expected pension increase rate 2.5  2.5
expected rate of return on assets:
- supporting lump sum liabilities 7.0  7.0
- supporting pensioner liabilities(i) 8.0  8.0

(i)  assets backing pension liabilities are not subject to tax.
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28. Director and executive disclosures
(a)	 Compensation	of	KMP

Consolidated  Tabcorp Holdings 
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $  $  $ $
short term  10,914,040  9,222,004  10,914,040  9,222,004 
other long term  45,680  (22,002)  45,680  (22,002)
post employment  209,888  232,888  209,888  232,888 
termination benefits  775,000  4,413,132  775,000  4,413,132 
share based payments  1,706,085  2,677,807  1,706,085  2,677,807 

 13,650,693  16,523,829  13,650,693  16,523,829 

the above reflects the compensation for the year for individuals who were a Kmp at any  
time during the year.  the compensation for the period while the individuals were a Kmp  
is $13,650,693 (2007: $14,827,163).

(b)	 Shareholdings	of	KMP	
30	June	2008
Shares	held	in	Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	(number)

Balance 
1 July 
2007 

Granted 
as 

remun-
eration

On 
exercise of 

Performance 
Options and 
Performance 

Rights

 Net 
change 

other 

Balance at
KMP 

cessation 
date

30 June 
2008

Non Executive Directors
Current
John story 13,149  -  -  12,500  n/a  25,649
anthony hodgson 100,170  -  -  (79,925)  n/a  20,245
paula dwyer 20,000  -  -  10,000  n/a  30,000
John o’neill n/a  -  -  -  n/a  - 
Zygmunt switkowski 33,800  -  -  40,000  n/a  73,800
Former
michael robinson 45,565  -  -  -  45,565  n/a 
philip satre 8,000  -  -  -  8,000  n/a 
Executives
Current Executive Director
elmer Funke Kupper 97,000  -  -  -  n/a  97,000
Current Executives
matt bekier 1,819  -  -  744  n/a  2,563
Walter bugno 30,000  -  -  -  n/a  30,000
mohan Jesudason 158,625  -  -  -  n/a  158,625
robert nason 10,000  -  -  -  n/a  10,000
Kerry Willcock 715  -  -  -  n/a  715
louise Zampaglione n/a  -  -  -  n/a  - 
Former Executives
peter caillard 120,740  -  -  -  120,740  n/a 
Total 639,583  -  -  (16,681)  174,305  448,597
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30	June	2007
Shares	held	in	Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	(number)

Balance 
1 July 
2006

Granted 
as 

remun-
eration

On exercise 
of  Options, 

Performance 
Options and 

Performance 
Rights

 Net 
change 

other 

Balance at
KMP 

cessation 
date

30 June 
2007

Non Executive Directors
Current
michael robinson 45,565  -  -  -  n/a  45,565
anthony hodgson 100,105  -  -  65  n/a  100,170
paula dwyer  10,000  -  -  10,000  n/a  20,000
philip satre 8,000  -  -  -  n/a  8,000
John story 13,149  -  -  -  n/a  13,149
Zygmunt switkowski  33,800  -  -  -  n/a  33,800
Former
richard Warburton 23,456  -  -  -  23,456 n/a
lawrence Willett 2,904  -  -  86  2,990 n/a
Executives
Current Executives
elmer Funke Kupper 97,000  -  -  -  n/a  97,000
matt bekier -  1,819  -  -  n/a  1,819
Walter bugno 30,000  -  -  -  n/a  30,000
peter caillard 105,740  15,000  -  -  n/a  120,740
mohan Jesudason 158,625  -  -  -  n/a  158,625
robert nason 10,000  -  -  -  n/a  10,000
Kerry Willcock 715  -  -  -  n/a  715
Former Executive Director
matthew slatter 2,071,130  -  -  -  2,071,130 n/a
Former Executives
george mackey 11,162  3,504  -  -  14,666 n/a
Julia nenke 942  -  -  -  942 n/a
Total 2,722,293  20,323  -  10,151  2,113,184  639,583
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28. Director and executive disclosures (continued)
(c)	 Options,	Performance	Options	and	Performance	Rights	holdings	of	KMP
30	June	2008
Performance	Options	held	in	Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	(number)

 Balance at Vested at 30 June 2008
Balance  

1 July 2007
 Granted as 

remuneration 
 Options 

exercised 
 Net reduction 

other * 
 KMP cessation 

date 30 June 2008  Total  Exercisable 
Current
elmer Funke Kupper  236,126  -  -  - n/a  236,126  -  - 
matt bekier  96,154  -  -  - n/a  96,154  -  - 
Walter bugno  236,126  -  -  - n/a  236,126  -  - 
mohan Jesudason  241,412  -  -  - n/a  241,412  -  - 
robert nason  70,804  -  -  - n/a  70,804  -  - 
Kerry Willcock  92,394  -  -  - n/a  92,394  -  - 
louise Zampaglione  -  -  -  - n/a  -  -  - 
Former
peter caillard  224,367  -  -  (66,786) 157,581 n/a  -  - 
Total  1,197,383  -  -  (66,786)  157,581  973,016  -  - 

* includes forfeitures.

30	June	2008
Performance	Rights	held	in	Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	(number)

 Balance at Vested at 30 June 2008
Balance  

1 July 2007
 Granted as 

remuneration 
 Rights 

 exercised 
 Net reduction 

other * 
 KMP cessation 

date 30 June 2008  Total  Exercisable 
Current
elmer Funke Kupper  15,000  100,000  -  - n/a  115,000  -  - 
matt bekier  -  41,592  -  - n/a  41,592  -  - 
Walter bugno  15,000  53,475  -  - n/a  68,475  -  - 
mohan Jesudason  22,756  35,650  -  - n/a  58,406  -  - 
robert nason  -  40,106  -  - n/a  40,106  -  - 
Kerry Willcock  5,925  24,064  -  - n/a  29,989  -  - 
louise Zampaglione  -  -  -  - n/a  -  -  - 
Former
peter caillard  14,829  22,459  -  (21,666) 15,622 n/a  -  - 
Total  73,510  317,346  -  (21,666)  15,622  353,568  -  - 

* includes forfeitures.
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30	June	2007
Options	and	Performance	Options	held	in	Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	(number)

 Balance at Vested at 30 June 2007
Balance  

1 July 2006
 Granted as 

remuneration 
 Options 

exercised 
 Net reduction 

other * 
KMP cessation 

date 30 June 2007  Total  Exercisable 
Current
elmer Funke Kupper  112,500 123,626  -  - n/a  236,126  -  - 
matt bekier  - 96,154  -  - n/a  96,154  -  - 
Walter bugno  112,500  123,626  -  - n/a 236,126  -  - 
peter caillard  108,983  115,384  -  - n/a  224,367  -  - 
mohan Jesudason  167,236 74,176  -  - n/a 241,412  -  - 
robert nason  - 70,804  -  - n/a  70,804  -  - 
Kerry Willcock  43,562 48,832  -  - n/a  92,394  -  - 
Former
matthew slatter(a)  1,978,122  -  -  318,080  1,660,042 n/a  85,165  85,165
george mackey  123,388 60,440  -  84,482  99,346 n/a  -  - 
Julia nenke  47,395 58,379  -  61,660  44,114 n/a  -  - 
Total  2,693,686  771,421  -  464,222  1,803,502  1,197,383  85,165  85,165

* includes forfeitures.
(a) opening balance included options issued under a service agreement.

30	June	2007
Performance	Rights	held	in	Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	(number)

 Balance at Vested at 30 June 2007
Balance  

1 July 2006
 Granted as 

remuneration 
 Rights 

exercised 
 Net reduction 

other * 
KMP cessation 

date 30 June 2007  Total  Exercisable 
Current
elmer Funke Kupper  15,000  -  -  - n/a  15,000  -  - 
matt bekier  -  -  -  - n/a  -  -  - 
Walter bugno  15,000  -  -  - n/a 15,000  -  - 
peter caillard  14,829  -  -  - n/a  14,829  -  - 
mohan Jesudason  22,756  -  -  - n/a 22,756  -  - 
robert nason  -  -  -  - n/a  -  -  - 
Kerry Willcock  5,925  -  -  - n/a  5,925  -  - 
Former
matthew slatter  44,363  -  -  14,420  29,943 n/a  -  - 
george mackey  16,790  -  -  4,088  12,702 n/a  -  - 
Julia nenke  6,446  -  -  2,549  3,897 n/a  -  - 
Total  141,109  -  -  21,057  46,542  73,510  -  - 

* includes forfeitures.
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29. Related party disclosure
(a)	 Parent	entity
the ultimate parent entity within the group is tabcorp holdings limited.

(b)	 Investments	in	controlled	entities
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following controlled entities in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(d).   
the financial years of all controlled entities are the same as that of the company.

% of equity held by immediate parent as at 30 June
 2008  2007 

Name of controlled entity Note Country of incorporation Equity type  %  % 
Parent entity
tabcorp holdings limited (a) australia
Controlled entities
tabcorp assets pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp manager pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp participant pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind (Queensland) pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp online pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp investments no.5 pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp international pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp international no.1 pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp international hong Kong ltd (g) bVi ordinary shares  - 67.0
tabcorp lotsynergy technology (beijing) co. ltd (g) china ordinary shares  - 67.0
tabcorp international no.2 pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
Jupiters resorts (macau) limited (k) macau ordinary shares  100.0 n/a
tabcorp apollo technologies private ltd (h) cyprus ordinary shares  - 50.0
tabcorp international no.3 pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
Vanuatu casino management services limited (j) Vanuatu ordinary shares  99.9 n/a
tabcorp international services and technology pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind superannuation pty ltd (f) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind staff superannuation pty ltd (f) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp employee share administration pty ltd australia ordinary shares  33.3 33.3
tabcorp investments pty ltd (b) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
star city holdings ltd (b)(d) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
star city pty ltd (b)(d) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
star city entertainment pty ltd (b) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0



Financial report 2008 43

% of equity held by immediate parent as at 30 June
 2008  2007 

Name of controlled entity Note Country of incorporation Equity type  %  % 
sydney harbour casino properties pty ltd (b)(d) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
sydney harbour apartments pty ltd (b) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
star city investments pty ltd (b)(e) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
showboat australia pty ltd (b) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
sydney casino management pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tabcorp investments no.2 pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
Jupiters limited australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
breakwater island limited australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
breakwater island trust australia units  100.0 100.0
Jupiters custodian pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
Jupiters trust australia units  100.0 100.0
Jupiters gaming pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
a.c.n. 082 760 610 pty ltd (i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
Jupwind superannuation pty ltd (f) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahal pty ltd (c) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
taha research and development pty ltd (c)(i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
atl pty ltd (c) australia ordinary and preference shares  100.0 100.0
Jupiters gaming (nsW) pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
club gaming systems (holdings) pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
the cgs trust australia units  100.0 100.0
tabcorp investments no.4 pty ltd (a) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tab limited australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
sky channel pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
2KY broadcasters pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
airsales pty ltd (i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind employee share plan pty ltd (i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind superannuation company pty ltd (f) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind marketing pty ltd (i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
sky channel marketing pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
sky australia international racing pty ltd australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind racing productions pty ltd (i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
tahwind racing productions (nsW) pty ltd (i) australia ordinary shares  100.0 100.0
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29. Related party disclosure (continued)
(b)	 Investments	in	controlled	entities	(continued)

(a)  these companies have entered into a deed of cross guarantee (or have been subsequently added to this deed by  
an assumption deed) with tabcorp holdings limited. 

(b)  these companies have entered into a deed of cross guarantee (or have been subsequently added to this deed by 
an assumption deed) with tabcorp investments pty ltd.  these companies have also entered into a guarantee and 
indemnity agreement as explained in note 30(c). 

(c) these companies were party to a deed of cross guarantee with tahal pty ltd, this deed ceased on 18 march 2008. 
(d) these companies have provided a charge over their assets and undertakings as explained in note 30(b)(i). 
(e)  star city investments pty ltd is 50% owned by sydney harbour casino properties pty ltd and 50% owned by star city 

entertainment pty ltd. 
(f)  these companies are not considered to be controlled entities in accordance with section 50aa(4) of the corporations 

act (2001). 
(g) these companies were sold on 19 december 2007. 
(h) this company was sold on 16 october 2007. 
(i)  these companies were placed into members’ voluntary liquidation in 2007/08 as part of an internal corporate 

streamlining project. 
( j) this company was incorporated on 17 June 2008. 
(k)  this company was incorporated on 5 June 2008. Jupiters resorts (macau) limited is 50% owned by tabcorp 

international no.1 pty ltd and 50% owned by tabcorp international no.2 pty ltd.

Deeds	of	cross	guarantee
pursuant to asic class order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 august 1998, the wholly owned 
subsidiaries within a deed of cross guarantee are relieved from the corporations act 2001  
(‘the act’) requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports and 
directors’ report, subject to meeting the compliance requirements for relief.

it is a condition of the class order that a deed of cross guarantee be entered into by the 
head company and each of the subsidiaries within the relevant class order group.  For each 
class order group, the effect of the deed is that each company guarantees to each creditor 
payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain 
provisions of the act.  if a winding up occurs under other provisions of the act, the company 
within the relevant class order group will only be liable in the event that after six months any 
creditor has not been paid in full.  the subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the 
event the head company of the relevant class order group is wound up.

the consolidated income statement and balance sheet of all entities included in the tabcorp 
holdings limited class order closed group (see (a) above) are set out below.

Financial	information	for	class	order	closed	group	-	entities	denoted	as	(a)	above
Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited	Closed	Group	

2008  2007 
$m $m

Income statement 
revenue 1,933.0  2,020.7
other income 1.7  1.2
government taxes and levies (580.1)  (549.0)
commissions and fees (494.3)  (482.0)
employment costs (105.5)  (169.9)
depreciation and amortisation (108.7)  (56.7)
property costs (17.6)  (15.5)
advertising and promotions (15.1)  (13.2)
professional and contract services (14.7)  (23.5)
Finance costs (161.4)  (167.0)
other expenses (80.7)  (98.4)

Profit before income tax expense and impairment 356.6 446.7
impairment (916.9) -

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense (560.3) 446.7
income tax expense  (45.8) (25.2)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent entity (606.1)  421.5
retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 295.9 357.9
net actuarial loss on defined benefit plan (0.8) (0.5)
dividends provided for or paid (493.4) (483.0)
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) at the  
end of the financial year (804.4)  295.9
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2008  2007 
$m $m

Balance sheet 
cash and cash equivalents 101.3  118.7
receivables 2,544.9  2,647.4
inventories 4.3  4.8
derivative financial instruments 3.2  - 
other 8.6  8.4
Total current assets 2,662.3  2,779.3

investment in controlled entities 2,083.8  2,526.1
property, plant and equipment 131.2  129.1
licences 109.5  597.2
other intangible assets 106.2  117.6
other receivables 2.1  - 
deferred tax assets -  9.3
derivative financial instruments 87.9  66.8
other 10.5  0.4
Total non current assets 2,531.2  3,446.5
Total assets 5,193.5  6,225.8

payables 165.0 153.9
interest bearing liabilities - 390.0
current tax liabilities 52.3 12.9
provisions 19.4 40.4
Total current liabilities 236.7  597.2

interest bearing liabilities 2,269.7 1,950.6
deferred tax liabilities 24.6 -
provisions 1.9 1.6
derivative financial instruments 199.4 167.3
other 1.9 -
Total non current liabilities 2,497.5  2,119.5
Total liabilities 2,734.2  2,716.7
NET ASSETS 2,459.3  3,509.1
issued capital 3,198.1 3,198.0
retained earnings/(accumulated losses) (804.4) 295.9
reserves 65.6 15.2
TOTAL EQUITY 2,459.3  3,509.1

(c)	 Transactions	with	controlled	entities	
Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited
details of dividends received from controlled entities are set out in note 2(a).

the amount receivable by the company is set out in note 8.  

the company entered into the following transactions during the current and prior year  
with controlled entities:

loans were advanced and repayments received; and ■

management and service fees were received from controlled entities. ■

all the transactions were undertaken on normal commercial terms and conditions.

(d)	 Transactions	with	joint	venture	operation
the group conducts an unincorporated joint venture operation with Vicracing pty ltd.  
the principal activity of the joint venture is the organisation, conduct, promotion and 
development of wagering and gaming within the state of Victoria.  the group receives  
75% of the product and expenses of the joint venture.

Consolidated
the group charges the joint venture operation for the provision of employee, management 
and asset services.  on consolidation, 75% of the charges eliminate (being the group’s interest 
in the joint venture operation).  charges for the remaining 25% of $47.3 million were received 
by the group in 2008 (2007: $47.6 million).

Tabcorp	Holdings	Limited
the company charges the joint venture operation for the provision of employee, management 
and asset services.  charges of $19.9 million were received in 2008 (2007: $22.2 million).

30. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
details of contingent liabilities and contingent assets where the probability of future 
payments/receipts is not considered remote are set out below as well as details of contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets, which although considered remote, the directors consider 
should be disclosed.

the directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as 
it is not probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required or the amount is 
not capable of reliable measurement.
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30. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets (continued)
Contingent	liabilities
(a)	 Company
as explained in note 29, the company has entered into a deed of cross guarantee pursuant  
to asic class order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 august 1998.

(b)	 Charges
(i)		 CLGCA	
the controlled entities denoted (d) in note 29 have provided the casino liquor and gaming 
control authority (‘clgca’) (formerly the nsW casino control authority) with a fixed and 
floating charge over all of the assets and undertakings of each company to secure payment of 
all monies and the performance of all obligations which they have to the clgca. the charge 
has a value of $1.5 billion.

(ii)		 Other
a controlled entity, tabcorp participant pty ltd, which is a participant in the joint venture described 
in note 29, has entered into a deed of cross charge with its joint venture partner to cover the non 
payment of a called sum in the event of the joint venture incurring a loss.  the charge is over 
undistributed and future earnings of the joint venture to the level of the unpaid call.

(c)	 Guarantee	and	indemnity
the controlled entities denoted (b) in note 29 have entered into a guarantee and indemnity 
agreement in favour of the clgca whereby all parties to the agreement are jointly and severally 
liable for the performance of the obligations and liabilities of each company participating in the 
agreement with respect to agreements entered into and guarantees given.

(d)	 Deed	of	cross	guarantee
the controlled entities denoted (a) and (b) in note 29 have entered into a deed of cross 
guarantee pursuant to asic class order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 august 1998.

(e)	 Legal	challenges
there are outstanding legal actions between controlled entities and third parties as at  
30 June 2008.  the group has notified its insurance carrier of all litigation, and believes that 
any damages (other than exemplary damages) that may be awarded against the group, in 
addition to its costs incurred in connection with the action, will be covered by its insurance 
policies where such policies are in place.  however, given the nature of insurance, no assurance 
can be given that any such claims are not likely to have a material adverse effect on the group.

in the case of possible actions which, due to the demise of an underwriter do not have 
insurance cover, the group considers that, on the balance of probability, no material losses  
will arise.  this position will be monitored and in the event that a loss becomes probable,  
an appropriate provision will be made.

(f)		 Banking	facilities
entities in the group are called upon to give in the ordinary course of business, guarantees 
and indemnities in respect of the performance of their contractual and financial obligations.  
the value of these guarantees and indemnities is $19.0 million (2007: $21.0 million).

(g)	 Undertakings	-	insurance	deductible
Under the casino taxes agreement, star city pty ltd (‘star city’) is required to take out 
insurance in the name of the clgca in respect of anticipated Weekly duty and community 
benefit levy arising out of partial or total loss or destruction of the star city casino premises.  
the agreement allows for a $1 million deductible for each and every loss.  star city has a 
5 day loss deductible (2007: 5 day loss deductible).  the company has provided the clgca 
with a deed of Undertaking to fund the shortfall of the difference between the current 5 
day deductible and the $1 million required under the casino taxes agreement.  the directors 
believe this undertaking would not exceed $1-2 million (2007: $1-2 million) for any one loss and 
believe such an event is remote.

(h)	 Switching	station	lease
a controlled entity, sydney harbour casino properties pty ltd (‘shcp’), has entered into a lease 
with the clgca for a vacant parcel of land adjacent to the star city casino.  the lease is for  
the term of the nsW casino licence and shcp prepaid $11.5 million in 1996 in respect of the 
period  of the casino licence term.  Under the lease, shcp is obliged to develop the site and 
was required to complete construction in 2000.  as part of the proposed redevelopment of  
the star city site, shcp is currently in negotiations with clgca to amend the lease to 
allow for the proposed new construction.  these negotiations are also expected to finalise 
discussions that have been ongoing between shcp and clgca since 2000 relating to the prior 
development obligations. the book value of the investment at 30 June 2008 was $10.3 million 
(2007: $11.1 million).   

(i)	 Star	City	arrangements
on 30 october 2007, tabcorp entered into an in-principle agreement with the new south 
Wales government to review star city’s regulatory regime, provide for greater flexibility in 
the delivery of product and provide star city with exclusivity for a further 12 years.  Under the 
agreement, star city will move to a new indexed tax regime to be phased in over five years 
from 1 July 2008, and pay the new south Wales government $100.0 million in two equal 
tranches (expected in 2008/09 and in 2009/10).  an intangible asset and a liability will be 
recognised upon the formal agreement taking effect.

Contingent	assets	
(j)	 Tax	audit
the australian taxation office (‘ato’) issued star city with an income tax assessment for the 
tax year ended 30 June 1997, and amended income tax assessments for the tax years ended  
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30 June 2000, 30 June 2001 and 30 June 2002.  the assessment and amended assessments 
relate to the deductibility of rent of $120.0 million prepaid in december 1994 in relation to  
the star city casino site.

the group has provided in full for the unpaid primary tax in dispute in relation to deductions 
claimed to 30 June 2002 of $31.6 million, and penalties and interest charges of $29.0 million 
(up to 30 June 2008).  the group has provided for general interest charges from 27 January 
2004.  due to the ongoing dispute with the ato, the group has not claimed deductions for 
prepaid rent for the 2003 to 2008 (inclusive) tax years.  the primary tax on these deductions 
is $8.8 million.  if the group is ultimately successful in its claims, the income tax deductions 
could be claimed.

31. Subsequent events
Dividends
since 30 June 2008, the directors have declared a special dividend of 47 cents per ordinary 
share.  the total amount of the special dividend is $246.7 million. this has not been provided 
for in the 30 June 2008 financial statements (refer to note 5). 

32. Financial risk management objectives and policies
the group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, comprise cash, short 
term deposits, bank bills, australian denominated bank loans and notes, and foreign currency 
denominated notes.

the main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the group’s operations.  
the group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade 
payables, which arise directly from its operations.  derivative transactions are also entered into 
by the group, principally interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps, the purpose being to 
manage interest rate and currency risks arising from the group’s sources of finance.  it is, and 
has been throughout the period under review, the group’s policy that no trading in financial 
instruments shall be undertaken.

the main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate risk, 
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 
recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument, 
are disclosed in note 1.

Cash	flow	interest	rate	risk
the group has a policy of controlling exposure to interest rate fluctuations by the use of 
fixed and variable rate debt and by the use of interest rate swaps or caps.  it has entered into 

interest rate swap agreements to hedge underlying debt obligations and allow floating rate 
borrowings to be swapped to fixed rate borrowings.  Under these arrangements, the group 
will pay fixed interest rates and receive the bank bill swap rate calculated on the notional 
principal amount of the contracts. 

at 30 June 2008, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, approximately  
74% (2007: 75%) of the group’s borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest.

Fair	value	interest	rate	risk
as the group holds fixed rate debt there is a risk that the economic value of financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  the level of fixed rate 
debt is disclosed in note 33 and it is acknowledged that this risk is a by-product of the group’s 
attempt to manage its cash flow interest rate risk.

Foreign	currency	risk
as a result of issuing private notes denominated in Us dollars (‘Usd’), the group’s balance 
sheet can be affected by movements in the Usd/aUd exchange rate.  in order to hedge this 
exposure, the group has entered into cross currency swaps to fix the exchange rate on the 
notes until maturity.  the group agrees to exchange a fixed Usd amount in exchange for an 
agreed aUd amount with swap counterparties, and re-exchange this again at maturity.   
these swaps are designated to hedge the principal and interest obligations under the  
private notes.

Commodity	price	risk
the group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

Credit	risk
credit risk on financial assets which have been recognised on the balance sheet, is the  
carrying amount net of any allowance for doubtful debts.  the group minimises credit risk  
via adherence to a strict cash management policy.  collateral is not held as security.

the group is not materially exposed to one individual debtor.  

credit risk in trade receivables is managed in the following ways:
the provision of cheque cashing facilities for casino gaming patrons is subject to detailed  ■

policies and procedures designed to minimise any potential loss, including the taking up 
of bank opinions and the use of a central credit agency which collates information from 
major casinos around the world; and
the provision of non gaming credit is covered by a risk assessment process for customers  ■

using the credit reference association of australia, bank opinions and trade references.
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32. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the group’s 
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets of the group, which comprise 
cash and cash equivalents (including short term deposits and bank bills), the maximum of the 
group’s exposure to credit risk from default of a counterparty is equal to the carrying amount 
of these instruments.  

in relation to financial liabilities, credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparties 
to meet their obligations under the contract or arrangement.  the group’s maximum credit 
risk exposure in respect of interest rate swap contracts and cross currency swap contracts is 
detailed in note 33.

all investment and financial instrument activity is with approved counterparties with 
investment grade credit ratings.  to manage credit risk, compliance with counterparty exposure 
limits is reviewed on a continuous basis.  the aggregate value of transactions are spread 
amongst the approved counterparties.

Liquidity	risk
the group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of bank loans and notes.

to help reduce liquidity risk, the group targets a minimum level of cash and cash equivalents 
to be maintained, and has revolving facilities in place with sufficient headroom.

the group’s policy is that not more than 33% of debt facilities should mature in any 12 month 
period within the next five years.  at 30 June 2008, 6% (2007: 14%) of the group’s debt facilities 
will mature in less than one year.

due to the measures in place for managing liquidity and access to capital markets, this risk  
is not considered significant.

refer to notes 18 and 33 for maturity of financial liabilities.

the contractual cash flows including principal and estimated interest receipts/payments  
of financial assets/liabilities are as follows:

 2008  2007 
< 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years < 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years

Consolidated  $m  $m  $m  $m  $m $m
Financial assets
cash assets 98.5  -  -  108.4  -  - 
short term deposits 74.7  -  -  93.8  -  - 
receivables 64.8  -  -  31.6  -  - 
other receivables -  3.0  -  -  -  - 
interest rate swaps  
- receive aUd floating 105.7  313.3  327.9  93.9  246.5  247.6
cross currency swaps  
- receive Usd fixed 35.2  140.9  779.5  40.0  160.1  925.6
total financial assets 378.9  457.2  1,107.4  367.7  406.6  1,173.2
Financial liabilities
trade creditors and accrued 
expenses 407.3  -  -  379.8  -  - 
bank loans - unsecured 88.5  1,227.2  -  443.5  703.4  - 
medium term notes
- fixed interest rate  25.0  441.3  -  25.0  466.3  - 
- floating interest rate  5.6  77.5  -  4.7  80.3  - 
private placement
- Us dollar - pay Usd fixed  35.2  140.9  779.5  40.0  160.1  925.6 
- australian dollar  8.7  34.8  156.5  7.3  29.2  154.7 
interest rate swaps  
- pay aUd fixed 80.7  245.9  264.6  83.0  224.1  228.3 
cross currency swaps  
- pay aUd floating 73.2  292.8  1,104.9  61.4  245.7  1,123.4 
total financial liabilities 724.2  2,460.4  2,305.5  1,044.7  1,909.1  2,432.0
Tabcorp Holdings Limited
Financial assets
cash assets 2.1  -  -  4.7  -  - 
short term deposits 22.6  -  -  35.2  -  - 
receivables 2,313.1  -  -  2,446.8  -  - 
other receivables -  3.0  -  -  -  - 
total financial assets 2,337.8  3.0  -  2,486.7  -  - 
Financial liabilities
trade creditors and accrued 
expenses 23.9  -  -  19.0  -  - 
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For floating rate instruments, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the interest 
rate at the last repricing date.

For foreign currency receipts and payments, the amount disclosed is determined by reference 
to the Usd/aUd rate at balance date.

33. Additional financial instruments disclosure
(a)	 Fair	values
Swaps
Fair value is calculated using discounted future cash flow techniques, where estimated cash 
flows and estimated discount rates are based on market data at the balance sheet date.

US	Private	Placement
Fair value is calculated using discounted future cash flow techniques, where estimated cash 
flows and estimated discount rates are based on market data at balance date, in combination 
with restatement to current foreign exchange rates.

Medium	Term	Notes
Fair value is determined using independent market quotations.

the carrying amount of financial assets or liabilities recognised in the financial statements 
are deemed to be the fair value unless otherwise stated in the table below.

Carrying amount  Fair value
 2008  2007  2008  2007 

 $m  $m  $m  $m 
Consolidated
Financial liabilities
medium term notes
- fixed interest rate  385.0  385.0  357.6  374.1 
- floating interest rate  65.0  65.0  64.8  65.9 

 450.0  450.0  422.4  440.0 
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33.  Additional financial instruments disclosure (continued)
(b)		 Interest	rate	risk
the group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial liabilities is set out below:

Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate

Floating 
interest 

rate
Fixed interest maturing in:

Non 
interest 
bearing

Balance 
sheet< 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years

Note % $m $m $m $m $m $m
2008 - Consolidated
Financial assets
cash assets 7 6.0 14.9 - - - 83.6 98.5
short term deposits 7 7.5 74.7 - - - - 74.7
receivables 8 - - - - - 64.8 64.8
other receivables 16 - - - - - 2.1 2.1
interest rate swaps (i) (ii) 33(c) - (1,440.0) 175.0 300.0 965.0 - -
total financial assets (1,350.4) 175.0 300.0 965.0 150.5 240.1
Financial liabilities
trade creditors and accrued expenses 17 - - - - 407.3 407.3
bank loans - unsecured(i) (iii) 18 8.2 1,084.8 - - - - 1,084.8
medium term notes(i)

- fixed interest rate(iv) 18 6.7 - - 383.3 - - 383.3
- floating interest rate(iii) 18 8.6 64.9 - - - - 64.9
private placement(i)

- Us dollar(iv) 18 5.5 - - - 637.0 - 637.0
- australian dollar(iii) 18 8.7 99.7 - - - - 99.7
cross currency swaps(i) 33(d) - 838.6 - - (838.6) - -
total financial liabilities 2,088.0 - 383.3 (201.6) 407.3 2,677.0
2008 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
Financial assets
cash assets 7 7.0 2.1 - - - - 2.1
short term deposits 7 7.2 22.6 - - - - 22.6
receivables 8 - - - - - 2,313.1 2,313.1
other receivables 16 - - - - - 2.1 2.1
total financial assets 24.7 - - - 2,315.2 2,339.9
Financial liabilities
trade creditors and accrued expenses 17 - - - - - 23.9 23.9
total financial liabilities - - - - 23.9 23.9
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Weighted  
average effective 

interest rate

Floating 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest maturing in: Non 
interest 
bearing

Balance 
sheet< 1 year 1 - 5 years > 5 years

Note % $m $m $m $m $m $m
2007 - Consolidated
Financial assets
cash assets 7 5.0 18.2 - - - 90.2 108.4
short term deposits 7 6.3 93.8 - - - - 93.8
receivables 8 - - - - - 31.6 31.6
interest rate swaps(i)(ii) 33(c) - (1,450.0) - 650.0 800.0 - -
total financial assets (1,338.0) - 650.0 800.0 121.8 233.8
Financial liabilities
trade creditors and accrued expenses 17 - - - - - 379.8 379.8
bank loans - unsecured(i) (iii) 18 6.9 1,067.1 - - - - 1,067.1
medium term notes(i)

- fixed interest rate(iv) 18 6.6 - - 382.8 - - 382.8
- floating interest rate(iii) 18 7.2 64.8 - - - - 64.8
private placement(i)

- Us dollar(iv) 18 5.4 - - - 726.2 - 726.2
- australian dollar(iii) 18 7.3 99.7 - - - - 99.7
cross currency swaps(i) 33(d) - 838.6 - - (838.6) - -
total financial liabilities 2,070.2 - 382.8 (112.4) 379.8 2,720.4
2007 - Tabcorp Holdings Limited
Financial assets
cash assets 7 6.0 4.7 - - - - 4.7
short term deposits 7 6.2 35.2 - - - - 35.2
receivables 8 - - - - - 2,446.8 2,446.8
total financial assets 39.9 - - - 2,446.8 2,486.7
Financial liabilities
trade creditors and accrued expenses 17 - - - - - 19.0 19.0
total financial liabilities - - - - 19.0 19.0

(i) the effective interest rate on gross debt at 30 June 2008 was 7.1% (2007: 6.6%) after taking into account the impact of interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps.
(ii)   notional principal amounts.
(iii)   interest on financial instruments classified as floating rate is repriced at intervals of less than one year. the floating rates represent the most recently determined rate applicable to the instrument at balance date.
(iv)   interest on financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until maturity of the instrument.
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33. Additional financial instruments disclosure (continued)
(c)	 Financial	instruments	-	interest	rate	swaps
interest rate swaps meet the requirements to qualify for cash flow hedge accounting and  
are stated at fair value.

these swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to variability in cash flows attributable to 
movements in the reference interest rate of the designated debt or instrument and are assessed 
as highly effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows attributable to such movements. 
hedge effectiveness is measured by comparing the change in the fair value of the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument respectively each quarter.  any difference represents ineffectiveness 
and is recorded in the income statement.

the notional principal amounts, cash flows and periods of expiry of these interest rate swap 
contracts are as follows:

Notional principal 
amount  Fair value 

 2008  2007  2008  2007 
 $m  $m  $m  $m 

less than one year  175.0  -  3.2  - 
one to five years  300.0  650.0  11.9  18.7
more than five years  965.0 800.0  75.1  48.1
notional principal  1,440.0  1,450.0  90.2  66.8

Fixed interest rate range p.a.  5.4% - 7.2%  5.4% - 6.0% 

Contractual  
cash flow amount 

 2008  2007 
 $m  $m 

less than one year  25.0  10.9
one to five years  67.4  22.4
more than five years  63.3 19.3
notional principal  155.7  52.6

net settlement receipts and payments are recognised as an adjustment to interest expense 
on an accruals basis over the term of the swaps, such that the overall interest expense on 
borrowings reflects the average cost of funds achieved by entering into the swap agreements. 

(d)	 Financial	instruments	-	cross	currency	swaps
cross currency swap contracts are classified as either cash flow hedges or fair value hedges 
and are stated at fair value.

these cross currency swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to the variability in the fair 
value of the Usd debt under the Us private placement and are assessed as highly effective 
in offsetting changes in movements in the forward Usd exchange rate.  hedge effectiveness 
is measured by comparing the change in the fair value of the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument respectively each quarter.  any difference represents ineffectiveness and is 
recorded in the income statement.

the principal amounts and periods of expiry of the cross currency swap contracts are as follows:

2008 2007 
Pay 

principal
 Receive 

principal 
pay 

principal
receive 

principal
 AUD $m  USD $m  aUd $m  Usd $m 

more than five years  838.6  625.0  838.6  625.0
Fixed interest rate range p.a.  -  5.3% - 5.6%  -  5.3% - 5.6% 
Variable interest rate range p.a.  8.7% - 8.8%  -  7.3% - 7.4%  - 

the terms and conditions in relation to interest rate and maturity of the cross currency swaps 
are similar to the terms and conditions of the underlying hedged private placement - Usd 
borrowings as set out in note 18.
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(e)	 Financial	instruments	-	sensitivity	analysis
Interest	rates	-	AUD	&	USD
the following sensitivity analysis is based on interest rate risk exposures in existence at the 
balance sheet date.

at 30 June, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables 
held constant, post tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements:

Post Tax Profit  
Higher/(Lower) 

Equity 
 Higher/(Lower) 

2008 2007 2008 2007
$m $m $m $m

Consolidated
AUD
+ 1% (100 basis points) (3.6) (3.2)  43.8  45.5
- 1% (100 basis points) 3.5 3.2  (47.6)  (49.4)
USD
+ 1% (100 basis points) (1.2) (0.7)  (26.6)  (30.1)
- 1% (100 basis points) 1.3 0.8  29.0  33.0

Tabcorp Holdings Limited
AUD
+ 1% (100 basis points) 0.2 0.2  -  - 
- 1% (100 basis points) (0.2) (0.2)  -  - 

the movements in profit are due to higher/lower interest costs from variable rate debt and 
investments, and an increase/decrease in the fair value of financial instruments designated as 
fair value hedges.  the movement in equity is due to an increase/decrease in the fair value of 
financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges.  

Foreign	Exchange
the following sensitivity analysis is based on foreign currency risk exposures in existence at 
the balance sheet date.

at 30 June, had the australian dollar moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other 
variables held constant, post tax profit and equity would have been affected as follows:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements:

Post Tax Profit  
Higher/(Lower) 

Equity  
Higher/(Lower) 

2008 2007 2008 2007
$m $m $m $m

Consolidated
aUd/Usd + 10 cents 3.2 (0.5)  (2.0)  0.8
aUd/Usd - 10 cents (4.5) 0.7  2.5  (1.1)

the movements in profit are due to an increase/decrease in the fair value of financial 
instruments designated as fair value hedges.  the movement in equity is due to an increase/
decrease in the fair value of financial instruments designated as cash flow hedges.  

management believe the balance date risk exposures are representative of the risk exposure 
inherent in the financial instruments.

the numbers derived in the sensitivity analysis are indicative only. 
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Directors’ declaration
in the opinion of the directors of tabcorp holdings limited (‘the company’):

(a)  the financial statements, notes and the additional disclosures included in the directors’ 
report designated as audited, of the company and of the group are in accordance with 
the corporations act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the company’s and the group’s financial position  
as at 30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

 (ii) complying with accounting standards and corporations regulations 2001; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts  
as and when they become due and payable.

this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to  
the directors in accordance with sections 295a of the corporations act 2001.

in the opinion of the directors, as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds 
to believe that the members of the closed group identified in note 29 will be able to meet  
any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by virtue of the deed  
of cross guarantee.

signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

John Story 
chairman

melbourne 
20 august 2008
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2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
$m $m $m $m $m

total revenue 4,042.4 3,883.7 3,834.8 3,817.1 2,500.0
ebitda - pre impairment/goodwill 1,075.2 947.8 1,059.1 1,046.2 739.0
profit before interest and tax 174.7 803.3 851.5 806.6 570.0
profit after income tax (164.6) 450.4 543.4 433.4 311.0
profit after income tax (pre impairment/goodwill)1 543.0 452.6 611.9 526.6 370.7
dividend2 493.4 493.5 467.2 423.4 330.3

cash and deposits 173.2 202.2 206.6 209.4 197.0
other current assets 105.0 80.5 72.0 120.4 158.4
licences and other intangibles 1,040.1 1,516.9 1,522.0 1,440.0 1,118.6
goodwill 3,190.6 3,384.6 3,384.6 3,444.3 1,280.6
other non current assets 1,612.8 1,542.3 1,486.8 1,558.9 1,591.3
total assets 6,121.7 6,726.5 6,672.0 6,773.0 4,345.9
current interest bearing liabilities  -   390.0 390.0 390.0 742.0
other current liabilities 560.2 514.9 506.2 483.9 307.1
non current interest bearing liabilities 2,269.7 1,950.6 2,029.6 2,143.6 1,130.0
other non current liabilities 521.0 486.8 383.3 496.9 190.8
total liabilities 3,350.9 3,342.3 3,309.1 3,514.4 2,369.9
shareholders' funds 2,770.8 3,384.2 3,362.9 3,258.6 1,975.9
capital expenditure - payments 222.0 166.8 236.1 119.5 101.2

cents cents cents cents cents
earnings per share - pre impairment/goodwill1 103.4 86.2 116.6 101.9 92.5
earnings per share - post impairment/goodwill1 (31.4) 85.8 103.6 83.9 77.6
dividends per share2 94.0 94.0 89.0 81.0 71.0
operating cash flow per share3 82.0 84.2 89.4 104.9 84.7
return on shareholders' funds - pre impairment/goodwill1,4 17.0% 13.4% 18.1% 15.6% 21.5%
return on shareholders' funds - post impairment/goodwill1,4 (5.1%) 13.3% 16.1% 12.9% 18.1%
net assets per share $5.28 $6.45 $6.41 $6.25 $4.67

Operating revenue5 $m $m $m $m $m
Wagering 1,469.9 1,464.1 1,403.3 1,413.2 446.2
gaming 1,133.6 1,081.8 1,046.6 1,032.2 933.5
casinos 1,357.5 1,291.4 1,330.1 1,274.9 1,065.3
Unallocated/elimination (4.0) (2.3) (3.1) 40.3 17.8
total 3,957.0 3,835.0 3,776.9 3,760.6 2,462.8

ebitda - earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. aiFrs used as basis for preparation for 2005 and 2006 data whilst agaap used for 2004 and years prior.

1 after income tax before impairment (aiFrs) or goodwill amortisation (agaap)
2 dividends attributable to the year, but which may be payable after the end of the period. 2008 includes a special dividend declared in august 2008. 
3 net operating cash flow per the statement of cashflows does not include payments for property plant and equipment and intangibles, whereas these items are included in the calculation for the operating cash flow per share ratio. 
4  tab limited was acquired in July 2004 and 12 months results are included in tabcorp’s 2005 consolidated results. For the purposes of the 2005 calculations, shareholders’ funds at the end of 2004 have been increased by $1,176 million, as if the 

acquisition had occurred at 30 June 2004. if this adjustment was not made, the reported return on shareholders’ funds (pre goodwill) would be 18.7%, and the reported return on shareholders’ funds (post goodwill) would be 13.1%.
5 operating revenue includes both external and internal operating revenue.

Five year review
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provided it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading 
context. Where the material is being published or issued 
to others, the sources and copyright status should be 
acknowledged.

Investment warning
past performance of shares is not necessarily a guide to future 
performance. the value of investments and any income from 
them is not guaranteed and can fall as well as rise. tabcorp 
recommends investors seek independent professional advice 
before making investment decisions.

Privacy
tabcorp respects the privacy of its stakeholders. tabcorp’s 
privacy policy is available on the company’s website at  
www.tabcorp.com.au.

Key dates
2008
annual general meeting 
(melbourne park, melbourne)  23 october

2009*
half-year results announcement  5 February
ex-dividend for interim dividend  10 February
record date for interim dividend  16 February
interim dividend payment  23 march
end of financial year  30 June
Full-year results announcement  6 august
ex-dividend for final dividend  11 august
record date for final dividend  17 august
Final dividend payment  18 september
annual general meeting  19 october

* These dates may change.  
See the Company’s website for updates.
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